การประยุกต์ของการวิเคราะห์กลุ่มกับสมการเชิงอนุพันธ์เฟ้นสุ่ม

นายบุญเลิศ ศรีหิรัญ

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรดุษฎีบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาคณิตศาสตร์ประยุกต์ มหาวิทยาลัยเทคโนโลยีสุรนารี ปีการศึกษา 2548 ISBN 974-533-493-6

# APPLICATION OF GROUP ANALYSIS TO STOCHASTIC DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS

Mr. Boonlert Srihirun

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Applied Mathematics Suranaree University of Technology Academic Year 2005 ISBN 974-533-493-6

## **APPLICATION OF GROUP ANALYSIS TO** STOCHASTIC DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS

Suranaree University of Technology has approved this thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Thesis Examining Committee

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Prapasri Asawakun)

Chairperson

(Prof. Dr. Sergey Meleshko)

Member (Thesis Advisor)

ritsana Nearmanee

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Kritsana Neammanee)

Member

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Nikolay Moshkin)

Member

(Asst. Prof. Dr. Eckart Schulz)

Member

S. Rutter

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Saowanee Rattanaphani) (Assoc. Prof. Dr. Sompong Thammathaworn) Vice Rector for Academic Affairs Dean of Institute of Science

บุญเลิศ ศรีหิรัญ: การประยุกต์ของการวิเคราะห์กลุ่มกับสมการเชิงอนุพันธ์เฟ้นสุ่ม (APPLICATIONON OF GROUP ANALYSIS TO STOCHASTIC DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS) อาจารย์ที่ปรึกษา: Prof. Dr. Sergey Meleshko, 78 หน้า. ISBN 974-533-493-6

วิทยานิพนธ์ฉบับนี้เป็นการนำเอาประโยชน์ของการวิเคราะห์กลุ่มไปใช้กับสมการเชิง อนุพันธ์เฟ้นสุ่ม บทนิยามของกลุ่มการแปลงที่ยอมรับของลิสำหรับสมการเชิงอนุพันธ์เฟ้นสุ่มถูก นำเสนอขึ้น การแปลงของตัวแปรตามนำเข้าไปเกี่ยวข้องกับเวลาด้วยเช่นกันและมีการแสดงว่าการ เคลื่อนที่แบบบราวเนียนถูกแปลงไปยังการเคลื่อนที่แบบบราวเนียน การประยุกต์กับสมการเชิง อนุพันธ์เฟ้นสุ่มในรูปแบบที่หลากหลายถูกนำเสนอขึ้น

สาขาวิชาคณิตศาสตร์ ปีการศึกษา 2548 ลายมือชื่อนักศึกษา <u>Bounlert Srihirm</u> ลายมือชื่ออาจารย์ที่ปรึกษา\_\_\_\_\_ ลายมือชื่ออาจารย์ที่ปรึกษาร่วม\_\_\_\_\_

## BOONLERT SRIHIRUN : APPLICATION OF GROUP ANALYSIS TO STOCHASTIC DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS. THESIS ADVISOR : PROF. SERGEY MELESHKO, Ph.D. 79 PP. ISBN 974-533-493-6

## STOCHASTIC PROCESS / DETERMINING EQUATIONS / RANDOM TIME CHANGE / ADMITTED LIE GROUP OF TRANSFORMATIONS /

This thesis deals with an application of group analysis to stochastic differential equations. A new definition of an admitted Lie group of transformations for stochastic differential equations involving Brownian motion is presented. The transformation of the dependent variables involves time as well, and it is proved that Brownian motion is transformed to Brownian motion. Applications to a variety of stochastic differential equations are presented.

School of Mathematics Academic Year 2005

Student's Signature Boonles & Srihirm
Advisor's Signature
Co-advisor's Signature

## Acknowledgements

I am profoundly grateful to my thesis advisor Prof. Dr. Sergey Meleshko and my thesis co-advisor Asst. Prof. Dr. Eckart Schulz for their support, patient help and offering many useful suggestions.

I would like to acknowledge the personal and professional support received from the faculty of the School of Mathematics, Suranaree University of Technology: Assoc. Prof. Dr. Prapasri Assawakun, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Pairote Sattayatham, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Nikolay Moshkin, and Asst. Prof. Dr. Arjuna Chaiyasena.

I also want to express my appreciation to Prof. Dr. Nail H. Ibragimov, and Assoc. Prof. Dr. Kritsana Niammanee for their valuable discussions and comments.

I would like to express my appreciation to the following for their sincere help. I wish to thank Dr. Kanthima Thailert for the SUT-thesis format in LaTex. I would like to thank all my friends who always have given their friendly help.

I acknowledge the financial support of the Ministry of University Affairs of Thailand (MUA). I am indebted to Kasetsart University for grants to support my studies throughout.

Last but not least, I am deeply grateful to my parents, my brother and my sister, for support, understanding, encouragement, and love.

Boonlert Srihirun

## Contents

Abstra	act in	English	Ι		
Ackno	wledg	gements	II		
Conter	nts.		III		
Chap	ter				
Ι	Int	roduction			
II	$\mathbf{Sto}$	Stochastic Processes			
	2.1	Stochastic Integration of Processes	5		
	2.2	Martingale in Continuous Time	8		
	2.3	Alternative Fields and Time Change	12		
		2.3.1 Alternative Fields and Stopping Time Identity	12		
		2.3.2 Time Change of a Local Martingale	13		
III	5 Sto	chastic Integrals as Time Change of Brownian Motion	15		
IV	Gro	oup Analysis	21		
	4.1	Lie Group of Transformations for Stochastic Processes	21		
	4.2	Determining Equations	22		
$\mathbf{V}$	Ap	Applications to Itô Equations			
	5.1	Geometric Brownian Motion	29		
	5.2	Brownian Motion with Drift	32		
VI	Ap	Applications to Systems of Itô Equations			
	6.1	One-dimensional Brownian motion	36		
		6.1.1 Narrow-sense Linear System	37		
		6.1.2 Graph of Brownian Motion	40		
		6.1.3 Black and Scholes Market	43		

	6.1.4	Mean-reverting Ornstein-Uhlenbeck Process	48
	6.1.5	Nonlinear Itô System	52
6.2	Two-o	dimensional Brownian motion	56
	6.2.1	System of Location and Motion	56
	6.2.2	Vibrating String Model	59
	6.2.3	Ornstein-Uhlenbeck Process	61
	6.2.4	Linear Itô Dynamical System	66
	6.2.5	Nonlinear Itô System	68
VII Con	clusio	m	73
7.1	Thesi	s Summary	73
References .			75
Curriculum	Vitae		79

IV

## Chapter I

## Introduction

In general, almost all differential equations are very difficult to solve explicitly. Numerical methods are frequently used with much success for obtaining approximate solutions. However, exact solutions are interesting because with their help, one can analyze the properties of the equations studied. One of the methods used for finding exact solutions of differential equations is group analysis.

A general survey of the method of group analysis can be found in Ovsiannikov (1978) and Ibragimov (1999). This technique involves the study of symmetries of equations, by which one means a local group of transformations mapping a solution of a given system of equations to another solution of the same system. Symmetries make it possible to reduce the number of dependent and independent variables in a system, and also to construct new solutions from known solutions. There are two types of solutions which can be obtained by group analysis: invariant and partially invariant solutions.

In contrast to deterministic differential equations, there have been only few attempts to apply symmetry techniques to stochastic differential equations. They fall into two general groups as outlined in the following.

Consider a system of Itô equations,

$$dx_i = f_i(t, x)dt + g_{ik}(t, x)dB_k \quad (i = 1, ..., n; k = 1, ..., r)$$
(1.1)

where  $f_i(t, x)$  is a drift vector,  $g_{ik}(t, x)$  is a diffusion matrix and  $B_k(k = 1, ..., r)$ are standard Brownian motions; the repeat index k means summation.

Recall that a Brownian motion or Wiener-Levy process is a real-valued

stochastic process  $\{B(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  satisfying the properties :

- (1) continuity: the map  $s \longmapsto B(s, \omega)$  is continuous almost surely.
- (2) independent increments: if  $s \leq t$ , then B(t) B(s) is independent of (the past)  $\mathcal{F}_s = \sigma(B(u) : u \leq s)$ .
- (3) stationary increments: if  $s \leq t$ , then B(t) B(s) and

B(t-s) - B(0) have the same distribution functions.

A Brownian motion is said to be standard if it satisfies the following properties :

- (a)  $B(0, \omega) = 0$  almost surely.
- (b)  $E\{B(t)\} = 0$  for all  $t \ge 0$ .
- (c)  $E\{B(t)^2\} = t$  for all  $t \ge 0$ .

The first approach of applications of group analysis to stochastic differential equations (Misawa (1994), Albeverio and Fei (1995), Gaeta and Quintero (1999) and Gaeta (2004)) deals with fiber-preserving transformations

$$\overline{x}_i = \phi_i(t, x, \varepsilon), \quad \overline{t} = \varphi(t, \varepsilon) \quad (i = 1, ..., n).$$
(1.2)

The general form of the infinitesimal generator in this approach is

$$Y = \tau(t)\partial_t + \xi_i(t, x)\partial_{x_i}, \qquad (1.3)$$

where  $\tau(t) = \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial \varepsilon}(t, \varepsilon)|_{\varepsilon=0}$  and  $\xi_i(t, x) = \frac{\partial \phi_i}{\partial \varepsilon}(t, x, \varepsilon)|_{\varepsilon=0}$ . By using Itô's formula, this transformation maps (1.1) into the system

$$d\overline{x}_i = \overline{f}_i(\overline{t}, \overline{x})dt + \overline{g}_{ik}(\overline{t}, \overline{x})dB_k.$$
(1.4)

Recall that according to Itô's formula (see Oksendal (1998)), the evolution of a scalar function I(t, x) satisfies the condition

$$dI = (I_{,t} + f_j I_{,j} + \frac{1}{2} g_{jk} g_{lk} I_{,jl}) dt + I_{,j} g_{jk} dB_k.$$
(1.5)

The requirement that an infinitesimal transformation map every solution of (1.1) to a solution of the same system gives the definition of an admitted Lie group for stochastic differential equations. This approach has been applied to stochastic dynamical systems (Misawa (1994) and Albeverio and Fei (1995)) and to the Fokker-Planck equation (Gaeta and Quintero (1999) and Gaeta (2004)). Its weakness is that it can only be applied to fiber-preserving transformations.

The second approach (Mahomed and Wafo Soh (2001), Mahomed, Pooe and Wafo Soh (2004), Unal (2003), Unal and Sun (2004), Ibragimov, Unal and Jogréus (2004)) deals with symmetry transformations for a system of Itô differential equations involving all the dependent variables in the transformation. The general form of the infinitesimal generator in this approach is

$$Y = \tau(t, x)\partial_t + \xi_i(t, x)\partial_{x_i}.$$
(1.6)

This approach has been applied to scalar second-order stochastic ordinary differential equations (Mahomed and Wafo Soh (2001) and Mahomed, Pooe and Wafo Soh (2004)), to the Hamiltonian-Stratonovich dynamical control system (Unal and Sun (2004)), to Itô and Stronovich Dynamical Systems (Unal (2003)) and to the Fokker-Planck equation (Unal and Sun (2004), Ibragimov, Unal and Jogréus (2004)). There have also been attempts to involve Brownian motion in the transformation. For the transformation of the Brownian motion in Unal (2003), the following formula is applied

$$d\overline{B}_{k} = dB_{k} + \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon(\tau_{,t} + f_{j}\tau_{,j} + \frac{1}{2}g_{jm}g_{lm}\tau_{,jl})dB_{k}, \quad (k = 1, ..., r).$$
(1.7)

Unfortunately, there is no a strict proof that the transformation of Brownian motion satisfies the properties of the Brownian motion.

In this thesis we construct a Lie group of transformations, involving both the dependent variables and the Brownian motion in the transformations. We carefully verify that Brownian motion is transformed to Brownian motion. This should allow obtaining a correct generalization of application of group analysis to stochastic differential equations.

This thesis is organized as follows. Chapter II introduces some necessary knowledge from stochastic processes. Transformations of Brownian motion are studied in Chapter III. Chapter IV considers notations of group analysis and provides references to known facts on application of group analysis to constructing determining equations for admitted Lie groups of transformations for stochastic differential equations. Chapter V is devoted to developing a new theory of application of group analysis to stochastic differential equations with one-dimension Brownian motion. Chapter VI extends the method developed in the thesis in case of multi-Brownian motion.

### Chapter II

#### **Stochastic Processes**

This chapter is devoted to developing the tools for stochastic processes used throughout this thesis. In particular, it discusses stochastic integrals with respect to Brownian motion, martingales, alternative fields and changes of time.

#### 2.1 Stochastic Integration of Processes

Let  $\Omega$  be a given set of elementary events  $\omega$ ;  $\mathcal{F}$  a  $\sigma$ -algebra of subsets of  $\Omega$  and  $\mathcal{P}$  a probability (or probability measure) on  $\mathcal{F}$ . The triple  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{P})$  is called a probability space. It is assumed that the  $\sigma$ -algebra  $\mathcal{F}$  is generated by a family of  $\sigma$ -algebras  $\mathcal{F}_t$   $(t \geq 0)$  such that

$$\mathcal{F}_s \subset \mathcal{F}_t \subset \mathcal{F} \quad \forall s \le t, \quad s, t \in I ,$$

where  $I = [0, T], T \in (0, \infty]$ .

The nondecreasing family of  $\sigma$ -algebras  $\mathcal{F}_t$  is also called a filtration and the  $\sigma$ -algebra  $\mathcal{F}$  is denoted by  $\mathcal{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \geq 0}$ . The triple  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \geq 0}, \mathcal{P})$  is called a filtrated probability space.

A stochastic process X on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{P})$  is a collection of random variables  $\{X(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$ . The process  $\{X(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  is said to be adapted to  $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  if X(t) is  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -measurable for each t. Denoting the Borel  $\sigma$ -algebra on  $[0, \infty)$  by  $\mathcal{B}$ , the process X is called measurable if  $(t, \omega) \longmapsto X(t, \omega)$  is a  $\mathcal{B} \otimes \mathcal{F}$ -measurable mapping. The process X is said to be continuous if the trajectories  $t \longmapsto X(t, \omega)$  are continuous for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ . It is called progressively measurable if  $X : [0, t] \times \Omega \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  is a  $\mathcal{B}([0, t]) \otimes \mathcal{F}_t$ -measurable mapping for each  $0 \leq t < \infty$ . Note that a progressively measurable process is measurable and adapted.

**Proposition 2.1.** An adapted process that is left-continuous or right-continuous is progressively measurable.

**Proof.** See Albin (2001), Theorem 8.8 p.58.

From now on, unless stated otherwise, we let  $\{B(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  be a standard Brownian motion and  $\mathcal{F}_t = \sigma(B(r); 0 \leq r \leq t)$ ,  $t \geq 0$ . Let  $0 = t_0 < t_1 < ... < t_n = T$  be a partition of [0,T] and  $Y_0, Y_1, ..., Y_{n-1}$  some random variables which are adapted to  $\mathcal{F}_0, \mathcal{F}_{t_1}, ..., \mathcal{F}_{t_{n-1}}$  respectively and satisfy the conditions  $E\{Y_0^2\}, ...$ ,  $E\{Y_{n-1}^2\} < \infty$ . The process  $\{X(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  which is defined by

$$X(t) = Y_0 I_{\{0\}}(t) + \sum_{i=1}^n Y_{i-1} I_{(t_{i-1}, t_i]}(t), \quad t \in [0, T]$$

is called a simple process. Here,  $I_S$  denotes the characteristic function of a set S. The set of simple processes forms the class  $S_T$ . In the case  $T = \infty$ , there is one more requirement for a simple process:  $Y_{n-1} = 0$ .

**Definition 2.1.** For a process  $X \in S_T$ , the Itô integral of  $\{X(t)\}_{t \in [0,T]}$  is defined by

$$\int_0^t X(s)dB(s) = X(t_m) \big( B(t) - B(t_m) \big) + \sum_{i=1}^m X(t_{i-1}) \big( B(t_i) - B(t_{i-1}) \big),$$

 $t \in (t_m, t_{m+1}].$ 

A stochastic process  $\{X(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  is said to belong to the class  $E_T, T \in (0, \infty]$ 

if it is measurable and adapted to  $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  with

$$E\{\int_0^T X^2(r)dr\} < \infty.$$

**Definition 2.2.** For a process  $X \in E_T$ , the Itô integral of  $\{X(t)\}_{t \in [0,T]}$  is defined in the sense of convergence in the mean

$$\int_0^t X(s)dB(s) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_0^t X_n(s)dB(s), \quad t \in [0,T],$$

where  $\{X_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a sequence of simple processes such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_0^T E(X_n(s) - X(s)) ds = 0.$$

A stochastic process  $\{X(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  is said to belong to the class  $P_T$  of predictable processes on [0,T],  $T \in (0, \infty]$  if it is measurable and adapted to  $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ with

$$\mathcal{P}\{\int_0^T X^2(r)dr < \infty\} = 1.$$

Note that  $S_T \subset E_T \subset P_T$ .

A stochastic process X is a nonanticipating functional if it is is measurable and adapted to  $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  with

$$\mathcal{P}\{\int_0^t X^2(r)dr < \infty, \quad t \ge 0\} = 1.$$

**Definition 2.3.** For a process  $X \in P_T$ , the Itô integral of  $\{X(t)\}_{t \in [0,T]}$  is defined in the sense of convergence in probability,

$$\int_0^t X(s)dB(s) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_0^t X_n(s)dB(s), \quad t \in [0,T],$$

where  $\{X_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a sequence of processes which belong to the class  $E_T$  such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_0^T \left( X_n(s) - X(s) \right) ds = 0,$$

with limit in the sense of convergence in probability.

**Remark 2.1.** In Albin (2001) it is proven that processes  $X, Y \in P_T$  satisfy the following;

a) The Itô integral 
$$\int_0^t X(\tau) dB(\tau)$$
 is well-defined for  $0 \le t \le T$ ,

b) 
$$E\left(\left(\int_0^t X(\tau)dB(\tau)\right)^2\right) = \int_0^t E(X^2(\tau))d\tau$$
 for  $0 \le t \le T$  (Itô isometry verty).

property),

c) 
$$E\left(\int_{0}^{t} X(\tau)dB(\tau)\int_{0}^{t} Y(\tau)dB(\tau)\right) = \int_{0}^{t} E\left(X(\tau)Y(\tau)\right)d\tau$$
 for  $0 \le t \le T$ ,  
d)  $\int_{0}^{t} \left(aX(\tau) + bY(\tau)\right)dB(\tau) = a\int_{0}^{t} X(\tau)dB(\tau) + b\int_{0}^{t} Y(\tau)dB(\tau)$  a.s.  
 $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $0 \le t \le T$ 

for all  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $0 \le t \le T$ ,

e) 
$$\int_0^t X(\tau) dB(\tau)$$
 is  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -measurable for  $0 \le t \le T$ ,  
f)  $\left\{ \int_0^t X(\tau) dB(\tau) \right\}_{t\ge 0}$  is continuous and progressively measurable, with

probability one.

g) 
$$X(t)B(t) = \int_0^t X(\tau)dB(\tau) + \int_0^t B(\tau)dX(\tau)$$
 for  $0 \le t \le T$ .

#### 2.2 Martingale in Continuous Time

We recall the definition of a martingale.

**Definition 2.4 (Martingale).** A stochastic process  $\{X(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  adapted to the filtration  $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  is called a martingale if it is integrable for any t, i.e.  $E|X(t)| < \infty$ 

and for any t and s with  $0 \le s \le t < \infty$ , and

$$E[X(t)|\mathcal{F}_s] = X(s) \quad \text{a.s.} \tag{2.1}$$

For us, the most important continuous-time martingales are those  $\{X(t)\}$  for which there is a subset  $\Omega_0$  of  $\Omega$  which  $P(\Omega_0) = 1$  such that the trajectories  $t \mapsto X(t, \omega)$  are continuous for all  $\omega \in \Omega_0$ . Naturally, these will be called continuous martingales.

**Definition 2.5 (Stopping time).** A nonnegative random variable  $\tau$ , which is allowed to take the value  $\infty$ , is called a stopping time with respect to the filtration  $\mathcal{F}_t = (\mathcal{F}_s)_{s \leq t}$  if for each t, the event  $\{\omega : \tau(\omega) \leq t\} \in \mathcal{F}_t$ .

Let X(t) be any collection of random variables indexed by  $t \in [0, \infty)$  and  $\tau$ a stopping time. One defines the stopping time variable  $X_{\tau}$  on the set  $\{\omega : \tau(\omega) < \infty\}$  by taking

$$X_{\tau}(\omega) = X(t,\omega),$$

provided  $\tau(\omega) = t$ .

**Definition 2.6.** A family  $\{X_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \Lambda}$  of random variables is said to be uniformly integrable if

$$E\Big[|X_{\alpha}|I_{\{|X_{\alpha}|>n\}}\Big]\longrightarrow 0$$

uniformly in  $\alpha$  as  $n \to \infty$ . That is

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{\alpha \in \Lambda} E\Big[ |X_{\alpha}| I_{\{|X_{\alpha}| > n\}} \Big] = 0.$$

**Definition 2.7 (Local martingale).** An adapted process  $\{X(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  is called a local martingale if there exists a sequence of stopping times  $0 \leq \tau_1 \leq \tau_2 \leq \dots$  with

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \tau_n = \infty \quad \text{a.s.}$$

and for each n, the stopping process  $\{X_{t\wedge\tau_n}\}_{t\geq 0}$  is a uniformly integrable martingale in t, where  $X_{t\wedge\tau_n}(\omega) = X(s,\omega)$  and  $s = \min\{t,\tau_n(\omega)\}$ .

**Lemma 2.1.** A continuous local martingale  $\{X(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  such that

$$|X_t| \leq Z_T$$
 a.s. for all  $t \in [0, T]$ ,

for some random variable  $Z_T$  with  $E[Z_T] < \infty$  is a martingale on [0, T] for each T > 0.

**Proof.** By the property of local martingale, there exists a sequence of stopping times  $0 \leq \tau_1 \leq \tau_2 \leq \ldots$  with  $\lim_{k \to \infty} \tau_k = \infty$  a.s. such that  $\{X_{t \wedge \tau_n}\}_{t \geq 0}$  is a uniformly integrable martingale for every n. Then  $X(t \wedge \tau_k) \to X(t)$  as  $k \to \infty$  a.s. Since  $|X_t| \leq Z_T$  a.s.,

$$\int_{\Omega} I_{\{|X(t\wedge\tau_k)|>n\}} |X(t\wedge\tau_k)| dP \le \int_{\{\omega: Z_T(\omega)>n\}} Z_T dP, \text{ for all } k.$$

Then

$$\sup_{k} \int_{\Omega} I_{\{|X(t \wedge \tau_k)| > n\}} |X(t \wedge \tau_k)| dP \le \int_{\{\omega: Z_T(\omega) > n\}} Z_T dP.$$

But  $E[Z_T] < \infty$ , so that  $\int_{\{\omega: Z_T(\omega) > n\}} Z_T dP \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$ , and hence  $\{X_{t \wedge \tau_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  is uniformly integrable for every  $t \in [0, T]$ . To show that X(t) is integrable, let

$$p(x) = \sup_{k} E[|X(t \wedge \tau_k)| I_{\{|X(t \wedge \tau_k)| > x\}}].$$

Since  $\{X_{t \wedge \tau_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  is uniformly integrable,  $p(x) \to 0$  as  $x \to \infty$ . But

$$|X(t \wedge \tau_k)| I_{\{|X(t \wedge \tau_k)| > x\}} \to |X(t)| I_{\{|X(t)| > x\}}$$

as  $k \to \infty$  a.s. Then by Fatou's lemma,

$$E[|X(t)|I_{\{|X(t)|>x\}}] \le \lim_{k \to \infty} \inf E[|X(t \land \tau_k)|I_{\{|X(t \land \tau_k)|>x\}}] \le p(x).$$
(2.2)

Then  $E[|X(t)|] = E[|X(t)|I_{\{|X(t)|>x\}}] + E[|X(t)|I_{\{|X(t)|\leq x\}}] \le p(x) + x$ , so X(t) is integrable.

It is left to show that (2.1) holds. We first show that  $E\left[|X(t \wedge \tau_k) - X(t)|\right] \rightarrow 0$  as  $k \rightarrow \infty$ . Since

$$|X(t \wedge \tau_k) - X(t)| \le |X(t \wedge \tau_k) - X(t)| I_{\{|X(t \wedge \tau_k)| \le x\}} + |X(t \wedge \tau_k)| I_{\{|X(t \wedge \tau_k)| > x\}} + |X(t)| I_{\{|X(t \wedge \tau_k)| > x\}},$$
  
$$t \wedge \tau_k) - X(t)| \le E[|X(t \wedge \tau_k) - X(t)| I_{\{|X(t \wedge \tau_k)| \le x\}}]$$

$$+E[|X(t \wedge \tau_k)|I_{\{|X(t \wedge \tau_k)| > x\}}] + E[|X(t)|I_{\{|X(t \wedge \tau_k)| > x\}}].$$

Since  $|X(t \wedge \tau_k) - X(t)|I_{\{|X(t \wedge \tau_k)| \le x\}} \le 2Z_T$  and  $|X(t \wedge \tau_k) - X(t)| \to 0$  a.s., by the Dominated Convergence Theorem,  $E[|X(t \wedge \tau_k) - X(t)|I_{\{|X(t \wedge \tau_k)| \le x\}}] \to 0$  as  $k \to \infty$ . And since  $|X(t)|I_{\{|X(t \wedge \tau_k)| > x\}} \le Z_T$  and  $|X(t)|I_{\{|X(t \wedge \tau_k)| > x\}} \to |X(t)|I_{\{|X(t)| > x\}}$ , by the Dominated Convergence Theorem, and (2.2)

then E[|X(

$$E[|X(t)|I_{\{|X(t\wedge\tau_k)|>x\}}] \to E[|X(t)|I_{\{|X(t)|>x\}}] \le p(x)$$

as  $k \to \infty$ . Then  $E\left[|X(t \wedge \tau_k) - X(t)|\right] \leq 3p(x)$ , for sufficiently large k. By choosing x to make p(x) as small as we like, we see that

$$E\Big[|X(t \wedge \tau_k) - X(t)|\Big] \to 0 \text{ as } k \to \infty.$$
(2.3)

Next, let  $0 \leq s \leq t \leq T$ . Since E[X(t)],  $E[X(t \wedge \tau_1)]$ , ... are finite,  $E[X(t)|\mathcal{F}_s]$ ,  $E[X(t \wedge \tau_1)|\mathcal{F}_s]$ , ... exist and unique. By (2.3),  $E[|E[X(t \wedge \tau_k)|\mathcal{F}_s] - E[X(t)|\mathcal{F}_s]|] = E[|E[(X(t \wedge \tau_k) - X(t)|\mathcal{F}_s]] \leq E[E[|X(t \wedge \tau_k) - X(t)||\mathcal{F}_s]] = E[|X(t \wedge \tau_k) - X(t)|] \rightarrow 0$  as  $k \rightarrow \infty$ . Then  $E[X(t \wedge \tau_k)|\mathcal{F}_s] \rightarrow E[X(t)|\mathcal{F}_s]$  in  $L^1$ . But  $X(t \wedge \tau_k)$  is a martingale, so that  $E[X(t \wedge \tau_k)|\mathcal{F}_s] = X(s \wedge \tau_k)$  for all k. Then  $X(s \wedge \tau_k) \rightarrow E[X(t)|\mathcal{F}_s]$  in  $L^1$ . On the other hand,  $X(s \wedge \tau_k) \rightarrow X(s)$  a.s. and  $|X(s \wedge \tau_k)| \leq Z_T$ , so by the Dominated Convergence Theorem,  $E[X(s \wedge \tau_k)] \to E[X(s)]$  as  $k \to \infty$ , that is  $X(s \wedge \tau_k) \to X(s)$  in  $L^1$ . By uniqueness of limits,  $E[X(t)|\mathcal{F}_s] = X(s)$  a.s. We have shown that  $\{X(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  is a martingale on [0, T].

**Definition 2.8.** A stochastic process  $\{Y(t)\}_{t \in [0,T]}$  is said to be bounded if  $|Y(t)| \leq K$  for all  $t \in [0,T]$ , with probability one, for some constant K > 0.

**Theorem 2.1.** For  $X \in \bigcup_{0 < T < \infty} P_T$ , there exists a sequence of stopping times  $0 \le \tau_1 \le \tau_2 \le \dots$  with  $\mathcal{P}(\lim_{n \to \infty} \tau_n = \infty) = 1$  such that

 $\left\{\int_{0}^{t\wedge\tau_{n}} XdB\right\}_{t\geq0}$  is a bounded martingale for every  $n\in\mathbb{R}$ .

In particular, the process  $\left\{\int_0^t X dB\right\}_{t \ge 0}$  is a local martingale.

**Proof.** See Albin (2001), Theorem 12.10 p.76.

#### 2.3 Alternative Fields and Time Change

#### 2.3.1 Alternative Fields and Stopping Time Identity

We now introduce a filtration which will play an essential role in our investigation of the representation of a stochastic integral as a time change of Brownian motion.

Let  $\tau$  be a  $\{\mathcal{F}_t\}$ -stopping time. Set

$$\mathcal{F}_{\tau} = \{ A \in \mathcal{F} : A \cap \{ \omega : \tau(\omega) \le t \} \in \mathcal{F}_t, \text{ for all } t \ge 0 \}.$$

One easily shows that  $\mathcal{F}_{\tau}$  is  $\sigma$ -algebra.

**Proposition 2.2.** Let  $\tau$  be a  $\{\mathcal{F}_t\}$ -stopping time. Suppose that  $\{X(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  is progressively measurable. Then  $X_{\tau}$  is  $\mathcal{F}_{\tau}$ -measurable.

**Proof.** First show that Then  $\{X_{\tau} \leq y\} \cap \{\tau \leq t\} \in \mathcal{F}_t$ , for all  $y \in \mathbb{R}$ . Fix  $t \geq 0$ , construct  $\varphi : \{\omega : \tau(\omega) \leq t\} \longmapsto [0,t] \times \Omega$  by  $\varphi(\omega) = (\tau(\omega), \omega)$ . Since  $\tau$  is a stopping time,  $\tau : (\{\tau \leq t\}, \mathcal{F}_t \cap \{\tau \leq t\}) \longmapsto ([0,t], \mathcal{B}([0,t]))$  is measurable, so

$$\{\omega: \varphi(\omega) \in B \times A\} = A \cap \{\omega: \tau(\omega) \in B\}$$
 for all  $A \in \mathcal{F}_t$  and  $B \in \mathcal{B}([0, t])$ .

By construction of the product measure, it follows that the map  $\varphi$  from ({ $\omega$  :  $\tau(\omega) \leq t$ },  $\mathcal{F}_t \cap \{\tau \leq t\}$ ) into ([0, t]  $\times \Omega$ ,  $\mathcal{B}([0, t]) \otimes \mathcal{F}_t$ ) is measurable. But the map X from ([0, t]  $\times \Omega$ ,  $\mathcal{B}([0, t]) \otimes \mathcal{F}_t$ ) into ( $\mathbb{R}$ ,  $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$ ) is measurable, hence  $X_\tau = X \circ \varphi$  is measurable from ({ $\tau \leq t$ },  $\mathcal{F}_t \cap \{\tau \leq t\}$ ) into ( $\mathbb{R}$ ,  $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$ ). Then { $X_\tau \leq y$ }  $\cap \{\tau \leq t\} \in \mathcal{F}_t$ , for all  $y \in \mathbb{R}$ .

It is left to show that for all  $y \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\{X_{\tau} \leq y\} \in \mathcal{F}_{\tau}$ . Since  $\{X_{\tau} \leq y\} \cap \{\tau \leq n\} \in \mathcal{F}_n \subset \mathcal{F}$  for all n,

$$\{X_{\tau} \le y\} = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \{X_{\tau} \le y\} \cap \{\tau \le n\} \in \mathcal{F}.$$

Then  $\{X_{\tau} \leq y\} \in \mathcal{F}_{\tau}$ . Hence  $X_{\tau}$  is  $\mathcal{F}_{\tau}$ -measurable.

#### 2.3.2 Time Change of a Local Martingale

All of the prerequisites have been assembled, and we are ready to present the main result of this section, namely that a time change of a local martingale is also a local martingale.

**Proposition 2.3.** Suppose that  $\{\mathcal{F}_t : 0 \leq t < \infty\}$  is a filtration and the process

 $\{\tau_t: 0 \le t < \infty\}$  is monotone in the sense that  $\tau_s \le \tau_t$  for all  $0 \le s \le t < \infty$ . If

$$\{\tau_t \leq u\} \in \mathcal{F}_u$$
, for all  $t \geq 0$  and  $u \geq 0$ ,

and if  $\{X_t, \mathcal{F}_t\}$  is a continuous local martingale, then  $\{X_{\tau_t}, \mathcal{F}_{\tau_t}\}$  is also a continuous local martingale.

Proof. See Michael Steele (2001), Proposition 7.13, p.108.

#### Chapter III

# Stochastic Integrals as Time Change of Brownian Motion

In this chapter, we prepare the mathematical tools required for defining the transformation of Brownian motion.

The constructions below are similar to (Oksendal(1998), section 8.5). Let  $\eta(t, x, a)$  be a sufficiently many times continuously differentiable function and  $\{X(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  a continuous and adapted stochastic process. Since  $\eta^2(t, x, a)$  is continuous,  $\eta^2(t, X(t, \omega), a)$  is also an adapted process. Define

$$\beta(t,\omega,a) = \int_0^t \eta^2(s, X(s,\omega), a) ds, \quad t \ge 0.$$
(3.1)

For brevity we write  $\beta(t)$  instead of  $\beta(t, \omega, a)$ . The function  $\beta(t)$  is called a random time change with time change rate  $\eta^2(t, X(t, \omega), a)$ . Note that  $\beta(t)$  is an adapted process. Suppose now that  $\eta(t, x, a) \neq 0$  for all (t, x, a). Then for each  $\omega$ , the map  $t \mapsto \beta(t)$  is strictly increasing. Next define

$$\alpha(t,\omega,a) = \inf_{s \ge 0} \{s : \beta(s,\omega,a) > t\},\tag{3.2}$$

and for brevity, write  $\alpha(t)$  instead of  $\alpha(t, \omega, a)$ . For almost all  $\omega$ , the map  $t \mapsto \alpha(t)$  is nondecreasing and continuous. One easily shows that for almost all  $\omega$ , and for all  $t \ge 0$ ,

$$\beta(\alpha(t)) = t = \alpha(\beta(t)). \tag{3.3}$$

Since  $\beta(t)$  is an  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -adapted process, one has

$$\{\omega : \alpha(t) \le s\} = \{\omega : t \le \beta(s)\} \in \mathcal{F}_s, \text{ for all } t \ge 0 \text{ and } s \ge 0.$$

Hence  $t \mapsto \alpha(t)$  is an  $\mathcal{F}_s$ -stopping time for each t.

The following theorem will be crucial for defining the transformation of a Brownian motion.

**Theorem 3.1.** Let  $\eta(t, x, a)$  and  $\{X(t)\}_{t \ge 0}$  be as above and  $\{B(t)\}_{t \ge 0}$  a standard Brownian motion. Define

$$\bar{B}(t) = \int_0^t \eta(s, X(s, \omega), a) dB(s), \quad t \ge 0.$$
(3.4)

Then  $(\bar{B}_{\alpha(t)}, \mathcal{F}_{\alpha(t)})$  is a standard Brownian motion, where

$$\mathcal{F}_{\alpha(t)} = \{ A \in \mathcal{F} : A \cap \{ \omega : \alpha(t) \le s \} \in \mathcal{F}_s, \text{for all } s \ge 0 \}$$

**Proof.** Obviously,  $\overline{B}(0) = 0$  a.s. Next we show that  $\{\overline{B}_{\alpha(t)}\}_{t\geq 0}$  is continuous. Since the process  $\{\eta^2(s, X(s, \omega), a)\}_{s\geq 0}$  is continuous,

$$\mathcal{P}(\{\omega: \int_0^T \eta^2(s, X(s, \omega), a) ds < \infty\}) = 1, \tag{3.5}$$

for each  $0 \leq T < \infty$ . Because X(t) is  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -measurable and the function  $\eta(t, x, a)$ is continuous,  $\eta(t, X(t, \omega), a)$  is also  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -measurable. Hence  $\{\eta(t, X(t, \omega), a)\}_{t\geq 0}$ is adapted to  $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ . Since the process  $\{\eta(t, X(t, \omega), a)\}_{t\geq 0}$  is continuous, it is progressively measurable, hence measurable and adapted. Thus  $\eta \in P_T$ , for all  $T \geq 0$ . By Remark 2.1, the Itô process  $\{\int_0^t \eta(s, X(s, \omega), a) dB(s)\}_{t\geq 0}$  is continuous. Since for almost all  $\omega$ , the map  $t \mapsto \alpha(t)$  is continuous,  $\{\bar{B}_{\alpha(t)}\}_{t\geq 0}$  is also continuous.

It left to show that  $\{\bar{B}_{\alpha(t)}\}_{t\geq 0}$  has independent and stationary increment. Let  $Z_t = \exp\left(i\theta \int_0^t \eta(s, X(s, \omega), a) dB(s) + \frac{1}{2}\theta^2 \int_0^t \eta^2(s, X(s, \omega), a) ds\right)$ . Then the process  $\{Z_t\}_{t\geq 0}$  is continuous. Now write (3.4) as

$$\bar{B}(t) = \bar{B}(0) + \int_0^t \eta(s, X(s, \omega), a) dB(s).$$

Using the function  $F(x) = e^{i\theta x}$  and Itô's formula, one has

$$e^{i\theta\bar{B}(t)} = e^{i\theta\bar{B}(0)} - \int_0^t \frac{1}{2}\theta^2 \eta e^{i\theta\bar{B}(s)} ds + \int_0^t i\theta \eta e^{i\theta\bar{B}(s)} dB(s).$$

Similarly, writing

$$\beta(t) = \beta(0) + \int_0^t \eta^2(s, X(s, \omega), a) ds,$$

and using the function  $G(x) = e^{\frac{1}{2}\theta^2 x}$  and the Fundamental Theorem of Calculus, one has

$$e^{\frac{1}{2}\theta^{2}\beta(t)} = e^{\frac{1}{2}\theta^{2}\beta(0)} + \int_{0}^{t} \frac{1}{2}\theta^{2}\eta^{2}e^{\frac{1}{2}\theta^{2}\beta(s)}ds.$$

Then by Itô's formula, one has

$$Z_{t} - Z_{0} = e^{i\theta\bar{B}(t)}e^{\frac{1}{2}\theta^{2}\beta(t)} - e^{i\theta\bar{B}(0)}e^{\frac{1}{2}\theta^{2}\beta(0)}$$
$$= \int_{0}^{t} \frac{1}{2}\theta^{2}\eta^{2}e^{i\theta\bar{B}(s)}e^{\frac{1}{2}\theta^{2}\beta(s)}ds - \int_{0}^{t} \frac{1}{2}\theta^{2}\eta^{2}e^{i\theta\bar{B}(s)}e^{\frac{1}{2}\theta^{2}\beta(s)}ds$$
$$+ \int_{0}^{t}i\theta\eta e^{i\theta\bar{B}(s)}e^{\frac{1}{2}\theta^{2}\beta(s)}dB(s) = \int_{0}^{t}i\theta\eta Z_{s}dB(s),$$

which shows that  $Z_t$  is an dB(t) integral. Hence  $Z_t$  is a continuous local martingale. Since for each  $\omega$ , the map  $t \mapsto \alpha(t)$  is nondecreasing and continuous, and  $t \mapsto \alpha(t)$  is an  $\mathcal{F}_s$ -stopping time for each t, it follows from proposition 2.3 that  $(Z_{\alpha(t)}, \mathcal{F}_{\alpha(t)})$  is also a continuous local martingale. Fix  $T \in (0, \infty)$ . Then for almost all  $\omega$ , one has

$$|Z_{\alpha(t)}| = \left| \exp\left(i\theta \int_{0}^{\alpha(t)} \eta(s, X(s, \omega), a) dB(s) + \frac{1}{2}\theta^{2} \int_{0}^{\alpha(t)} \eta^{2}(s, X(s, \omega), a) ds\right) \right|$$
$$= \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}\theta^{2} \int_{0}^{\alpha(t)} \eta^{2}(s, X(s, \omega), a) ds\right) = \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}\theta^{2}\beta(\alpha(t))\right)$$
$$= \exp(\frac{1}{2}\theta^{2}t) \leq \exp(\frac{1}{2}\theta^{2}T),$$

for all  $t \in [0, T]$ . It follows from lemma 2.1 that  $(Z_{\alpha(t)}, \mathcal{F}_{\alpha(t)})$  is a martingale on [0, T]. Since the process  $\{\bar{B}_t\}_{t\geq 0}$  is continuous and adapted to  $\{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ , by proposition 2.1, it is progressively measurable. Because  $t \longmapsto \alpha(t)$  is an  $\mathcal{F}_s$ -stopping time

for each t,  $\{\bar{B}_{\alpha(s)}\}_{s\geq 0}$  is adapted to  $\{\mathcal{F}_{\alpha(s)}\}_{s\geq 0}$ , hence  $\exp(-i\theta\bar{B}_{\alpha(s)})$  is adapted to  $\{\mathcal{F}_{\alpha(s)}\}_{s\geq 0}$ . Thus  $\exp(-i\theta\bar{B}_{\alpha(s)})$  is  $\mathcal{F}_{\alpha(s)}$ -measurable. Since  $\exp(-\frac{1}{2}\theta^2 t)$  does not depend on  $\omega$ , one has

$$E\left[e^{-\frac{1}{2}\theta^{2}t}e^{-i\theta\bar{B}_{\alpha(s)}}Z_{\alpha(t)}\Big|\mathcal{F}_{\alpha(s)}\right] = e^{-\frac{1}{2}\theta^{2}t}e^{-i\theta\bar{B}_{\alpha(s)}}E\left[Z_{\alpha(t)}\Big|\mathcal{F}_{\alpha(s)}\right],$$

a.s. for all  $0 \le s \le t \le T$ . Now by the martingale property,

$$E\left[Z_{\alpha(t)}\middle|\mathcal{F}_{\alpha(s)}\right] = Z_{\alpha(s)}$$
 a.s. for all  $0 \le s \le t \le T$ .

and hence for all  $0 \le s \le t \le T$ ,

$$E\left[e^{i\theta(\bar{B}_{\alpha(t)}-\bar{B}_{\alpha(s)})}\Big|\mathcal{F}_{\alpha(s)}\right] = E\left[Z_{\alpha(t)}e^{-\frac{1}{2}\theta^{2}t}e^{-i\theta\bar{B}_{\alpha(s)}}\Big|\mathcal{F}_{\alpha(s)}\right]$$
$$= e^{-\frac{1}{2}\theta^{2}t}e^{-i\theta\bar{B}_{\alpha(s)}}Z_{\alpha(s)} = e^{-\frac{1}{2}\theta^{2}t}e^{-i\theta\bar{B}_{\alpha(s)}}e^{i\theta\bar{B}_{\alpha(s)}}e^{\frac{1}{2}\theta^{2}s} = e^{-\frac{1}{2}\theta^{2}(t-s)} \quad \text{a.s}$$

**Claim.** Let  $\mathcal{F}'$  and  $\mathcal{F}''$  be  $\sigma$ -algebras such that  $\mathcal{F}' \subset \mathcal{F}''$ . Suppose Y is an  $\mathcal{F}''$ -measurable random variable such that  $E[\exp(i\theta Y)|\mathcal{F}'] = \exp(-\frac{1}{2}\theta^2\sigma^2)$ . Then Y is independent of  $\mathcal{F}'$  and it has the Gaussian distribution with mean zero and variance  $\sigma^2$ .

**Proof of the claim :** Let  $A \in \mathcal{F}'$ . Calculate  $E[\exp(i\theta Y)I_A]$  as follows:

$$E[\exp(i\theta Y)I_A] = \int_{\Omega} \exp(i\theta Y)I_A dP = \int_A \exp(i\theta Y)dP = \int_A E[\exp(i\theta Y)|\mathcal{F}']dP$$
$$= \int_A \exp(-\frac{1}{2}\theta^2\sigma^2)dP = \exp(-\frac{1}{2}\theta^2\sigma^2)\int_A dP = \exp(-\frac{1}{2}\theta^2\sigma^2)P(A).$$

Consider the characteristic function of Y whose distribution function  $F_Y$  is given by

$$\phi(\theta) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \exp(i\theta x) dF_Y(x) = E[\exp(i\theta Y)],$$

where  $F_Y : \mathbb{R} \to [0, 1]$  is defined by  $F_Y(x) = P(Y \le x)$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ . By taking  $A = \Omega$ , it is readily computed by

$$\phi(\theta) = E[\exp(i\theta Y)] = \exp(-\frac{1}{2}\theta^2\sigma^2).$$

This formula provides the characteristic of a Gaussian distribution with mean 0 and variance  $\sigma^2$ . To show that Y is independent of  $\mathcal{F}'$ , let  $A \in \mathcal{F}'$  be such that P(A) > 0. Define  $P_A : \mathcal{F}'' \to [0, 1]$  by

$$P_A(B) = \frac{P(A \cap B)}{P(A)}, \quad \text{for } B \in \mathcal{F}''.$$

One easily shows that  $P_A$  is a probability measure, so that  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}'', P_A)$  is a probability space. Consider the characteristic function of Y whose distribution function  $G_Y$  is given by

$$\overline{\phi}(\theta) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \exp(i\theta x) dG_Y(x) = E_A[\exp(i\theta Y)],$$

where  $G_Y : \mathbb{R} \to [0, 1]$  is defined by  $G_Y(x) = P_A(Y \le x)$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ . One easily shows that for an  $\mathcal{F}''$ -measurable random variable Z,

$$E_A(Z) = \frac{E(Z1_A)}{P_A}.$$

But  $\exp(i\theta Y)$  is  $\mathcal{F}''$ -measurable, and

$$E_A(\exp(i\theta Y)) = \frac{E(\exp(i\theta Y)1_A)}{P_A} = \frac{\exp(-\frac{1}{2}\theta^2\sigma^2)P_A}{P_A} = \exp(-\frac{1}{2}\theta^2\sigma^2),$$

 $\mathbf{SO}$ 

$$\overline{\phi}(\theta) = E_A[\exp(i\theta Y)] = \exp(-\frac{1}{2}\theta^2\sigma^2).$$

This formula provides the characteristic of a Gaussian distribution with mean 0 and variance  $\sigma^2$ . By uniqueness of the characteristic function, one gets

$$P_A(Y \le x) = G_Y(x) = F_Y(x) = P(Y \le x)$$
 for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

thus

$$P(A \cap \{Y \le x\}) = P(A)P_A(Y \le x) = P(A)P(Y \le x) \quad \text{for all } x \in \mathbb{R}.$$

This show that Y is independent of any  $A \in \mathcal{F}'$  with P(A) > 0. But Y is independent of any  $A \in \mathcal{F}'$  with P(A) = 0, so Y is independent of  $\mathcal{F}'$ .

By the claim,  $\bar{B}_{\alpha(t)} - \bar{B}_{\alpha(s)}$  is independent of  $\mathcal{F}_{\alpha(s)}$  and it has Gaussian distribution with mean zero and variance t - s, for all  $0 \leq s \leq t < \infty$ . It follows that  $(\bar{B}_{\alpha(t)}, \mathcal{F}_{\alpha(t)})$  is a standard Brownian motion.

## Chapter IV

## **Group Analysis**

In this chapter, the group analysis method is discussed as it applies to stochastic processes. A general introduction to this method can be found in various textbooks (cf. Ovsiannikov (1978), Handbook of Lie group analysis (1994), (1995), (1996)).

#### 4.1 Lie Group of Transformations for Stochastic Processes

Assume that the set of transformations

$$\bar{t} = H(t, x, a), \quad \bar{x} = \varphi(t, x, a) \tag{4.1}$$

composes a Lie group. Let  $h(t, x) = H_a(t, x, 0), \xi(t, x) = \varphi_a(t, x, 0)$  be the coefficients of the infinitesimal generator

$$h(t,x)\partial_t + \xi(t,x)\partial_x.$$

According to Lie's theorem, the functions H(t, x, a) and  $\varphi(t, x, a)$  satisfy the Lie equations

$$\frac{\partial H}{\partial a} = h(H,\varphi), \quad \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial a} = \xi(h,\varphi)$$
(4.2)

and the initial conditions for a = 0:

$$H(t, x, 0) = t, \quad \varphi(t, x, 0) = x.$$
 (4.3)

Since  $H_t(t, x, 0) = 1$ , then  $H_t(t, x, a) > 0$  in a neighborhood of a = 0, where one can find a function  $\eta(t, x, a)$  such that

$$\eta^2(t, x, a) = H_t(t, x, a)$$

Using the function  $\varphi(t, x, a)$ , one can define a transformation  $\overline{X}(\overline{t}, \omega)$  of a stochastic process  $X(t, \omega)$  by

$$\bar{X}(\bar{t},\omega) = \varphi\Big(\alpha(\bar{t}), X(\alpha(\bar{t}),\omega), a\Big), \tag{4.4}$$

where the functions  $\beta(t)$  and  $\alpha(\bar{t})$  are as in formulae (3.1) and (3.2). This gives an action of Lie group (4.1) on the set of stochastic processes. Replacing  $\bar{t}$  by  $\beta(t)$ , one gets

$$\bar{X}(\beta(t),\omega) = \varphi(t, X(t,\omega), a).$$

In calculations of an admitted Lie group of transformations<sup>1</sup> it is useful to introduce the function

$$\tau(t, x) = \eta_a(t, x, 0).$$

Notice that the functions h(t, x) and  $\tau(t, x)$  are related by the formulae

$$\tau(t,x) = \frac{h_t(t,x)}{2}, \quad h(t,x) = 2\int_0^t \tau(s,x)ds.$$

Similar to partial differential equations, the functions  $\tau(t, x)$  and  $\xi(t, x)$  define a Lie group of transformations for stochastic processes. In fact, given  $\tau(s, x)$  and  $\xi(s, x)$ , one sets

$$h(t,x) = 2\int_0^t \tau(s,x)ds$$

Solving the Lie equations (4.2) with initial conditions (4.3), one then finds the functions H(t, x, a) and  $\varphi(t, x, a)$ .

#### 4.2 Determining Equations

This section is devoted to constructing determining equations of an admitted Lie group of transformations for stochastic differential equations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The proper definition of an admitted Lie group of transformation will be given in the next section.

Let the set of transformations (4.1) compose a Lie group. Assume that  $X(t, \omega)$  is a continuous and adapted stochastic process satisfying the equation

$$X(t,\omega) = X(0,\omega) + \int_0^t f(s, X(s,\omega))ds + \int_0^t g(s, X(s,\omega))dB(s),$$
(4.5)

where the drift vector  $f = (f_1, ..., f_n)$  and the diffusion matrix  $g = (g_{ik})_{n \times r}$  are given functions,  $B = (B_1, ..., B_r)$  is multi-Brownian motion,  $\int_0^t f(s, X(s)) dt$  is a Riemann integral and  $\int_0^t g(s, X(s)) dB(s)$  is an Itô integral.

Theorem 4.1 (Existence and Uniqueness). Suppose that the coefficients f and g of equation (4.5) with initial condition  $X(0) = x_0$  satisfy a space-variable Lipchitz condition

$$|f(t,x) - f(t,y)|^2 + |g(t,x) - g(t,y)|^2 \le k|x-y|^2,$$

and the spatial growth condition,

$$|f(t,x)|^{2} + |g(t,x)|^{2} \le k(1+|x|^{2}),$$

for some positive constant k. Then there exists a continuous adapted solution  $X_t$ of equation (4.5) that is uniformly bounded in  $L^2(d\mathcal{P})$ :

$$\sup_{0 \le t \le T} E\left(X_t^2\right) < \infty.$$

Moreover, if  $X_t$  and  $Y_t$  are both continuous  $L^2$  bounded solutions of equation (4.5) then

$$\mathcal{P}(X_t = Y_t \text{ for all } t \in [0, T]) = 1.$$

**Proof.** See Michael Steele (2001), Theorem 9.1 p.142.

In chapter III, it was proven that the processes

$$\bar{B}_k(t) = \int_0^{\alpha(t)} \eta(s, X(s, \omega), a) dB_k(s), \quad t \ge 0, \quad (k = 1, ..., r)$$

are standard Brownian motions. Consider

$$\psi(t,\omega) = \bar{X}(\beta(t),\omega),$$

where

$$\bar{X}(t,\omega) = \varphi(\alpha(t), X(\alpha(t), \omega), a)$$

is the transformation of the stochastic process  $X(t, \omega)$  given by (4.4). In the previous section it was shown that for almost all  $\omega$ , there is a relation

$$\psi(t,\omega) = \varphi(t, X(t,\omega), a).$$

Due to Itô's formula, one has

$$\psi(t,\omega) = \psi(0,\omega) + \int_0^t (\varphi_{,t} + f_j \varphi_{,j} + \frac{1}{2} g_{jk} g_{lk} \varphi_{,jl})(s, X(s,\omega), a) ds + \int_0^t g_{jk} \varphi_{,j}(s, X(s,\omega), a) dB_k(s).$$

$$(4.6)$$

Because  $X(t,\omega)$  is a solution of (4.5) and  $\varphi_x(t,x,a)$  is a continuous function,  $g(t, X(t,\omega))\varphi_x(t, X(t,\omega), a)$  is a continuous process and  $g\varphi_x$  is a nonanticipating functional. According to the time change formula for Itô integrals (McKean (1969)), a nonanticipating functional e with

$$\mathcal{P}\Big(\int_0^t e^2 ds + \int_0^t \eta^2 ds < \infty, \quad t \ge 0\Big) = 1$$

satisfies the formula

$$\int_0^{\alpha(t)} e(s,\omega) dB(s) = \int_0^t e(\alpha(s),\omega) \frac{1}{\eta(\alpha(s), X(\alpha(s),\omega), a)} d\bar{B}(s).$$
(4.7)

Applying this formula to the last term of equation (4.6), one obtains

$$\psi_{i}(t,\omega) = \psi_{i}(0,\omega) + \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} (\varphi_{i,t} + f_{j}\varphi_{i,j} + \frac{1}{2}g_{jk}g_{lk}\varphi_{i,jl}) \Big(\alpha(s), X(\alpha(s),\omega), a\Big) \alpha_{\overline{t}}(s) ds \quad (4.8) + \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} \frac{g_{jk}\varphi_{i,j}}{\eta} \Big(\alpha(s), X(\alpha(s),\omega), a\Big) d\overline{B}_{k}(s), \quad (i = 1, ..., n).$$

Since  $\beta(t, \omega, a) = \int_0^t \eta^2(s, X(s, \omega), a) ds$  and  $\beta(\alpha(\bar{t})) = \bar{t}$  for almost all  $\omega$ , then

$$\eta^2(\alpha(\bar{t}), X(\alpha(\bar{t}), \omega), a)\alpha_{\bar{t}}(\bar{t}) = 1$$

This gives

$$\alpha_{\overline{t}}(s) = \eta^{-2}(\alpha(s), X(\alpha(s), \omega), a).$$
(4.9)

Substitution of  $\alpha_{\bar{t}}(s)$  into (4.8) leads to the equation

$$\psi_{i}(t,\omega) = \psi_{i}(0,\omega) + \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} \left(\frac{\varphi_{i,t} + f_{j}\varphi_{i,j} + \frac{1}{2}g_{jk}g_{lk}\varphi_{i,jl}}{\eta^{2}}\right) \left(\alpha(s), X(\alpha(s),\omega), a\right) ds \quad (4.10) + \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} \frac{g_{jk}\varphi_{i,j}}{\eta} \left(\alpha(s), X(\alpha(s),\omega), a\right) d\bar{B}_{k}(s), \quad (i = 1, ..., n).$$

Requiring that transformations (4.2) map a solution of equation (4.5) into a solution of the same equation, one obtains

$$\bar{X}(\bar{t},\omega) = \bar{X}(0,\omega) + \int_0^{\bar{t}} f(s,\bar{X}(s,\omega))ds + \int_0^{\bar{t}} g(s,\bar{X}(s,\omega))d\bar{B}(s).$$

Substituting  $\bar{t} = \beta(t)$  into this equation, one gets

$$\bar{X}(\beta(t),\omega) = \bar{X}(0,\omega) + \int_0^{\beta(t)} f(s,\bar{X}(s,\omega))ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} g(s,\bar{X}(s,\omega))d\bar{B}(s).$$
(4.11)

Equations (4.10) and (4.11) will certainly be equal if the integrands of the two Riemann integrals as well those of the Itô integrals coincide. Comparing the Riemann and Itô integrals, respectively, one obtains,

$$(\varphi_{i,t} + f_j \varphi_{i,j} + \frac{1}{2} g_{jk} g_{lk} \varphi_{i,jl}) \Big( \alpha(t), X(\alpha(t), \omega), a \Big)$$

$$= f_i(t, \bar{X}(t, \omega)) \eta^2 \Big( \alpha(t), X(\alpha(t), \omega), a \Big),$$

$$(4.12)$$

$$g_{jk}\varphi_{i,j}\Big(\alpha(t), X(\alpha(t), \omega), a\Big) = g_{ik}(t, \bar{X}(t, \omega))\eta\Big(\alpha(t), X(\alpha(t), \omega), a\Big), \qquad (4.13)$$
$$(i = 1, ..., n; k = 1, ..., r).$$

Since  $\bar{X}(\bar{t},\omega) = \varphi(\alpha(\bar{t}), X(\alpha(\bar{t}),\omega), a)$ , equations (4.12) and (4.13) become

$$\begin{aligned} (\varphi_{i,t} + f_j \varphi_{i,j} + \frac{1}{2} g_{jk} g_{lk} \varphi_{i,jl})(\alpha(\bar{t}), X(\alpha(\bar{t}), \omega), a) \\ &= f_i(\bar{t}, \varphi(\alpha(\bar{t}), X(\alpha(\bar{t}), \omega), a)) \eta^2(\alpha(\bar{t}), X(\alpha(\bar{t}), \omega), a), \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.14)$$

$$g_{jk}\varphi_{i,j}(\alpha(\bar{t}), X(\alpha(\bar{t}), \omega), a) = g_{ik}(\bar{t}, \varphi(\alpha(\bar{t}), X(\alpha(\bar{t}), \omega), a))\eta(\alpha(\bar{t}), X(\alpha(\bar{t}), \omega), a),$$
(4.15)

$$(i = 1, ..., n; k = 1, ..., r).$$

Substituting  $\bar{t} = \beta(t)$  into equations (4.14) and (4.15) and using (3.2), equations (4.14) and (4.15) can be rewritten as

$$(\varphi_{i,t} + f_j \varphi_{i,j} + \frac{1}{2} g_{jk} g_{lk} \varphi_{i,jl})(t, X(t,\omega), a) = f_i(\beta(t), \varphi(t, X(t,\omega), a))\eta^2(t, X(t,\omega), a),$$

$$(4.16)$$

$$g_{jk}\varphi_{i,j}(t,X(t,\omega),a) = g_{ik}(\beta(t),\varphi(t,X(t,\omega),a))\eta(t,X(t,\omega),a),$$
(4.17)

(i = 1, ..., n; k = 1, ..., r).

Differentiating equations (4.16) and (4.17) with respect to the parameter a, one obtains the equations

$$\left(\varphi_{i,ta} + f_j \varphi_{i,ja} + \frac{1}{2} g_{jk} g_{lk} \varphi_{i,jla}\right)(t, X(t, \omega), a)$$

$$= \left(\eta^2 (f_{i,t} \frac{\partial \beta}{\partial a} + f_{i,j} \varphi_{j,a}) + 2f_i \eta \eta_a\right)(t, X(t, \omega), a),$$

$$(4.18)$$

$$g_{jk}\varphi_{i,ja}(t,X(t,\omega),a) = \left(g_{ik}\eta_a + \eta(g_{ik,t}\frac{\partial\beta}{\partial a} + g_{ik,j}\varphi_{j,a})\right)(t,X(t,\omega),a), \quad (4.19)$$
$$(i = 1,...,n; k = 1,...,r).$$

Substituting a = 0 into equations (4.18) and (4.19), one has

$$\left(\frac{\partial\varphi_{i}}{\partial a}\Big|_{a=0}\right)_{t} + f_{j}\left(\frac{\partial\varphi_{i}}{\partial a}\Big|_{a=0}\right)_{,j} + \frac{1}{2}g_{jk}g_{lk}\left(\frac{\partial\varphi_{i}}{\partial a}\Big|_{a=0}\right)_{,jl} = f_{i,t}\frac{\partial\beta}{\partial a}\Big|_{a=0} + f_{i,j}\frac{\partial\varphi_{j}}{\partial a}\Big|_{a=0} + 2f_{i}\frac{\partial\eta}{\partial a}\Big|_{a=0},$$
(4.20)

$$g_{jk}\left(\frac{\partial\varphi_i}{\partial a}\Big|_{a=0}\right)_{,j} = g_{ik,t}\frac{\partial\beta}{\partial a}\Big|_{a=0} + g_{ik}\frac{\partial\eta}{\partial a}\Big|_{a=0} + g_{ik,j}\frac{\partial\varphi_j}{\partial a}\Big|_{a=0},\tag{4.21}$$

$$(i = 1, ..., n; k = 1, ..., r)$$

Since  $\beta(t, \omega, a) = \int_0^t \eta^2(s, X(s, \omega), a) ds$  for all  $t \ge 0$ , differentiating this with respect to a, one finds

$$\frac{\partial\beta}{\partial a}\Big|_{a=0} = 2\int_0^t \frac{\partial\eta}{\partial a}\Big|_{a=0} ds$$

Substituting  $\frac{\partial \beta}{\partial a}\Big|_{a=0}$  into equations (4.20) and (4.21), one arrives at the following equations

$$\xi_{i,t}(t, X(t, \omega)) + f_j \xi_{i,j}(t, X(t, \omega)) + \frac{1}{2} g_{jk} g_{lk} \xi_{i,jl}(t, X(t, \omega)) -2f_{i,t}(t, X(t, \omega)) \int_0^t \tau(s, X(s, \omega)) ds - f_{i,j} \xi_j(t, X(t, \omega)) - 2f_i \tau(t, X(t, \omega)) = 0, g_{jk} \xi_{i,j}(t, X(t, \omega)) - 2g_{ik,t}(t, X(t, \omega)) \int_0^t \tau(s, X(s, \omega)) ds -g_{ik} \tau(t, X(t, \omega)) - g_{ik,j} \xi_j(t, X(t, \omega)) = 0, (i = 1, ..., n; k = 1, ..., r).$$

$$(4.22)$$

Equations (4.22) are integro-differential equations for the functions  $\tau(t, x)$  and  $\xi(t, x)$ . These equations have to be satisfied for any solution  $X(t, \omega)$  of the stochastic differential equation (4.5). Similar to integro-differential equations (Grigoryev and Meleshko (1990) and Meleshko (2005)) one can define an admitted Lie group by using the determining equations (4.22).

**Definition 4.1.** A Lie group of transformations (4.1) is called admitted by stochastic differential equation (4.5), if for any solution  $X(t, \omega)$  of (4.5) the functions  $\xi(t, x)$  and  $\tau(t, x)$  satisfy the determining equations (4.22).

The determining equations for an admitted Lie group of transformations were constructed under the assumption that transformations (4.1) transforms any solution of equation (4.5) into a solution of the same equation.

Assume that one has found the functions  $\tau(t, x)$  and  $\xi(t, x)$  which are solu-

$$\begin{split} &\frac{\partial H}{\partial a}(t,x,a) = h(H,\varphi),\\ &\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial a}(t,x,a) = \xi(H,\varphi), \end{split}$$

with the initial conditions for a = 0;

$$H = t, \quad \varphi = x,$$

where  $h(t,x) = 2 \int_0^t \tau(s,x) ds$ , and  $\eta^2 = \frac{\partial H}{\partial t}.$ 

## Chapter V

## Applications to Itô Equations

In this chapter, the theory developed is applied to some stochastic differential equations.

## 5.1 Geometric Brownian Motion

Let  $\mu$  and  $\sigma > 0$  be constants. Consider the equation discussed in Chalasani and Jha (1996),

$$dX(t) = \mu X(t)dt + \sigma X(t)dB(t).$$
(5.1)

The solution of equation (5.1) with the initial condition  $X(0) = X_0$  is called geometric Brownian motion. For equation (5.1), the functions in equation (4.22) are  $f = \mu x$ ,  $g = \sigma x$ . The system of determining equations for equation (5.1) becomes

$$\xi_t + \mu x \xi_x + \frac{1}{2} \sigma^2 x^2 \xi_{xx} - \mu \xi - 2\mu x \tau = 0,$$
  
$$\sigma x \xi_x - \sigma x \tau - \sigma \xi = 0.$$
 (5.2)

From the second equation of (5.2) one finds

$$\tau = \frac{1}{x}(x\xi_x - \xi).$$

Substituting it into the first equation of (5.2), one obtains that the function  $\xi(t, x)$  has to satisfy the equation

$$\xi_t - \mu x \xi_x + \frac{1}{2} \sigma^2 x^2 \xi_{xx} + \mu \xi = 0.$$
(5.3)

30

For the sake of simplicity we study the particular class of solutions of equation (5.3) defined by the additional assumption

$$\xi(t,x) = F(x).$$

In this case the determining equation (5.3) becomes

$$-\mu x F'(x) + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 x^2 F''(x) + \mu F(x) = 0$$

The general solution of the last equation is

$$F(x) = C_1 x + C_2 x^{\gamma+1}, (5.4)$$

where  $\gamma = \frac{2\mu}{\sigma^2} - 1$ . Hence  $\tau = C_2 \gamma x^{\gamma}$ , and  $h(t, x) = 2C_2 \gamma x^{\gamma} t$ . Thus, the admitted generators are

$$x\partial_x, \quad x^{\gamma}(x\partial_x + 2\gamma t\partial_t).$$

Notice that for  $\gamma = 0$  the second generator coincides with the first.

The Lie group of transformations corresponding to the first admitted generator is

$$\bar{x} = xe^a, \quad \bar{t} = t.$$

Applying Itô's formula to the function  $\varphi = xe^{2a}$ , one has

$$X(t)e^{2a} = X(0)e^{2a} + \int_0^t \mu X(s,\omega)e^{2a}ds + \int_0^t \sigma X(s,\omega)e^{2a}dB(s).$$

Because of  $\bar{X}(\bar{t},\omega) = \bar{X}(t,\omega) = \varphi(t,X(t,\omega),a) = X(t,\omega)e^{2a}$ , one has

$$\bar{X}(\bar{t},\omega) = \bar{X}(0,\omega) + \int_0^{\bar{t}} \mu \bar{X}(s,\omega) ds + \int_0^{\bar{t}} \sigma \bar{X}(s,\omega) dB(s).$$

This confirms that this Lie group transforms a solution of (5.1) into a solution of the same equation.

Let us construct the Lie group of transformations corresponding to the second admitted generator

$$x^{\gamma}(\frac{1}{\gamma}x\partial_x + 2t\partial_t),$$

where  $\gamma \neq 0$ . One has to solve the Lie equations

$$\frac{\partial H}{\partial a} = 2\varphi^{\gamma}H, \quad \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial a} = \frac{1}{\gamma}\varphi^{\gamma+1},$$

with the initial conditions for a = 0:

$$H = t, \quad \varphi = x.$$

The solution of this Cauchy problem is

$$H = t(1 + ax^{\gamma})^{-2}, \ \varphi = (a + x^{-\gamma})^{-\frac{1}{\gamma}}.$$

Then  $\eta^2 = H_t = (1 + ax^{\gamma})^{-2}$ . The transformations of the independent variable t and the dependent variable x are

$$\bar{t} = H = t(1 + ax^{\gamma})^{-2}.$$
 (5.5)

$$\bar{x} = \varphi = (a + x^{-\gamma})^{-\frac{1}{\gamma}},$$
(5.6)

Let us show that the Lie group of transformations (5.5) and (5.6) transforms a solution of equation (5.1) into a solution of the same equation. Assume that X(t) is a solution of equation (5.1). According to theorem 3.1, the Brownian motion B(t) is transformed to the Brownian motion

$$\bar{B}(t) = \int_0^{\alpha(t)} (1 + aX^{\gamma}(s))^{-1} dB(s), \quad t \ge 0,$$
(5.7)

where

$$\beta(t) = \int_0^t (1 + aX^{\gamma}(s))^{-2} ds, \quad \alpha(t) = \inf_{s \ge 0} \{s : \beta(s) > t\}, \quad t \ge 0.$$

Applying Itô's formula to the function  $\varphi(t, x, a) = (a + x^{-\gamma})^{-\frac{1}{\gamma}}$ , one has

$$\varphi(t, X(t, \omega), a) = \varphi(0, X(0, \omega), a) + \int_0^t \mu(a + X^{-\gamma}(s, \omega))^{-\frac{1}{\gamma}} (1 + aX^{\gamma}(s, \omega))^{-2} ds + \int_0^t \sigma(a + X^{-\gamma}(s, \omega))^{-\frac{1}{\gamma}} (1 + aX^{\gamma}(s, \omega))^{-1} dB(s).$$
(5.8)

By virtue of (4.9),

$$\frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial \bar{t}}(\bar{t}) = (1 + aX^{\gamma}(\alpha(\bar{t})))^2$$

Changing the variable of the integral  $s = \alpha(\bar{s})$  in the Riemann integral in (5.8), it becomes

$$\int_0^t \mu(a + X^{-\gamma}(s))^{-\frac{1}{\gamma}} (1 + aX^{\gamma}(s))^{-2} ds = \int_0^{\beta(t)} \mu[a + X^{-\gamma}(\alpha(\bar{s}))]^{-\frac{1}{\gamma}} d\bar{s}.$$

Because of the transformation of the Brownian motion (5.7) and the change of Brownian motion in the Itô integral (4.7), the Itô integral in (5.8) becomes

$$\int_0^t \sigma(a + X^{-\gamma}(s))^{-\frac{1}{\gamma}} (1 + aX^{\gamma}(s))^{-1} dB(s) = \int_0^{\beta(t)} \sigma[a + X^{-\gamma}(\alpha(\bar{s}))]^{-\frac{1}{\gamma}} d\bar{B}(\bar{s}).$$
  
Since  $\left(a + X^{-\gamma}(\alpha(\bar{t}), \omega)\right)^{-\frac{1}{\gamma}} = \varphi\left(\alpha(\bar{t}), X(\alpha(\bar{t}), \omega), a\right) = \bar{X}(\bar{t}, \omega),$  one gets  
 $\varphi(t, X(t, \omega), a) = \varphi(0, X(0, \omega), a) + \int_0^{\beta(t)} \mu \bar{X}(s, \omega) ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} \sigma \bar{X}(s, \omega) d\bar{B}(s).$ 

Because  $\bar{X}(\beta(t),\omega) = \varphi(t, X(t,\omega), a)$  and  $\bar{X}(0,\omega) = \varphi(0, X(0,\omega), a)$ , one has

$$\bar{X}(\beta(t),\omega) = \bar{X}(0,\omega) + \int_0^{\beta(t)} \mu \bar{X}(s,\omega) ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} \sigma \bar{X}(s,\omega) d\bar{B}(s) ds$$

This confirms that the Lie group of transformations (5.5) and (5.6) transforms any solution of equation (5.1) into a solution of the same equation.

### 5.2 Brownian Motion with Drift

Consider the equation discussed in Chalasani and Jha (1996),

$$dX(t) = \mu dt + dB(t), \tag{5.9}$$

where  $\mu$  is constant. The solution of equation (5.9) with the initial condition  $X(0) = X_0$  is called Brownian motion with drift. For equation (5.9), the functions

in equation (4.22) are  $f = \mu$ , g = 1. The system of determining equations for equation (5.9) becomes

$$\xi_t + \mu \xi_x + \frac{1}{2} \xi_{xx} - 2\mu\tau = 0,$$
(5.10)
$$\xi_x - \tau = 0.$$

From the second equation of (5.10) one finds

$$\tau = \xi_x.$$

Substituting it into the first equation of (5.10) one obtains that the function  $\xi(t, x)$  has to satisfy the equation

$$\xi_t - \mu \xi_x + \frac{1}{2} \xi_{xx} = 0. \tag{5.11}$$

As in the previous example, for the sake of simplicity we study only the particular class of solutions of equation (5.11) defined by the assumption

$$\xi(t,x) = F(x).$$

In this case the determining equation (5.11) becomes

$$F'' - 2\mu F' = 0.$$

The general solution of the last equation depends on the value of  $\mu$ . If  $\mu \neq 0$ , then

$$F(x) = C_1 + C_2 e^{2\mu x}. (5.12)$$

Hence,  $\tau = 2C_2\mu e^{2\mu x}$  and  $h(t, x) = 4C_2e^{2\mu x}t$ , and a basis of generators corresponding to (5.12) is

$$\partial_x, \quad e^{2\mu x}(\partial_x + 4t\partial_t).$$

If  $\mu = 0$ , then

$$F(x) = C_1 + C_2 x, (5.13)$$

and a basis of generators corresponding to (5.13) is  $\partial_x$  and  $x\partial_x + 2t\partial_t$ .

Let us construct the Lie group of transformations corresponding to the generator

$$e^{2\mu x}(\partial_x + 4t\partial_t), \quad (\mu \neq 0).$$

One has to solve the Lie equations

$$\frac{\partial H}{\partial a} = 4\mu e^{2\mu\varphi}H, \quad \frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial a} = e^{2\mu\varphi},$$

with the initial conditions for a = 0:

$$H = t, \quad \varphi = x.$$

The solution of this Cauchy problem is

$$H = t(1 - 2\mu a e^{2\mu x})^{-2}, \qquad \varphi = x - \frac{1}{2\mu} \ln(1 - 2\mu a e^{2\mu x})$$

Then  $\eta^2 = H_t = (1 - 2ae^{2\mu x})^{-2}$ . The transformations of the independent variable t and the dependent variable x are

$$\bar{t} = H = t(1 - 2\mu a e^{2\mu x})^{-2},$$
(5.14)

$$\bar{x} = \varphi = x - \frac{1}{2\mu} \ln(1 - 2\mu a e^{2\mu x}).$$
 (5.15)

Let us show that the Lie group of transformations (5.14) and (5.15) transforms a solution of equation (5.9) into a solution of the same equation. Assume that X(t) is a solution of equation (5.9). The Brownian motion B(t) is transformed according to the formula

$$\bar{B}(t) = \int_0^{\alpha(t)} (1 - 2\mu a e^{2\mu X(s)})^{-1} dB(s), \quad t \ge 0,$$
(5.16)

where

$$\beta(t) = \int_0^t (1 - 2\mu a e^{2\mu X(s)})^{-2} ds, \quad \alpha(t) = \inf_{s \ge 0} \{s : \beta(s) > t\}, \quad t \ge 0.$$

Applying Itô's formula to the function  $\varphi(t, x, a) = x - \frac{1}{2\mu} \ln(1 - 2\mu a e^{2\mu x})$ , one has

$$\varphi(t, X(t, \omega), a) = \varphi(t, X(0, \omega), a) + \int_0^t \mu (1 - 2\mu a e^{2\mu X(s, \omega)})^{-2} ds + \int_0^t (1 - 2\mu a e^{2\mu X(s, \omega)})^{-1} dB(s).$$
(5.17)

By virtue of (4.9),

$$\frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial \bar{t}}(\bar{t}) = (1 - 2\mu a e^{2\mu X(s)})^2$$

Changing the variable of the integral  $s = \alpha(\bar{s})$  in the Riemann integral in (5.17), it becomes

$$\int_0^t \mu (1 - 2\mu a e^{2\mu X(s)})^{-2} ds = \int_0^{\beta(t)} \mu d\alpha(\bar{s})$$

Because of the transformation of the Brownian motion (5.16) and the change of Brownian motion in the Itô integral (4.7), the Itô integral in (5.17) becomes

$$\int_0^t (1 - 2\mu a e^{2\mu X(s)})^{-1} dB(s) = \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}(\alpha(\bar{s}))$$

Because  $\bar{X}(\beta(t), \omega) = \varphi(t, X(t, \omega), a)$  and  $\bar{X}(0, \omega) = \varphi(0, X(0, \omega), a)$ , one has

$$\bar{X}(\beta(t),\omega) = \bar{X}(0,\omega) + \int_0^{\beta(t)} \mu ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}(s).$$

This confirms that the Lie group of transformations (5.14) and (5.15) transforms any solution of equation (5.9) into a solution of the same equation.

# Chapter VI

# Applications to Systems of Itô Equations

In this chapter, we will discuss applications of group analysis for constructing determining equations for admitted Lie groups of transformations for some systems of stochastic differential equations.

### 6.1 One-dimensional Brownian motion

Let us consider the system of Itô equations

$$X_{i}(t,\omega) = X_{i}(0,\omega) + \int_{0}^{t} f_{i}(s, X(s,\omega))ds + \int_{0}^{t} g_{i}(s, X(s,\omega))dB(s), \quad (i = 1, ..., n)$$
(6.1)

where the drift rate f and the volatility g are given adapted stochastic processes and B is Brownian motion.

**Definition.** A Lie group of transformations (4.1) is called admitted by the stochastic differential equation (6.1), if for any solution  $X(t, \omega)$  of (6.1) the functions  $\xi(t, x)$  and  $\tau(t, x)$  satisfy the system of determining equations

$$\begin{aligned} \xi_{i,t}(t, X(t, \omega)) + f_j \xi_{i,j}(t, X(t, \omega)) + \frac{1}{2} g_j g_k \xi_{i,jk}(t, X(t, \omega)) \\ -2f_{i,t}(t, X(t, \omega)) \int_0^t \tau(s, X(s, \omega)) ds - f_{i,j} \xi_j(t, X(t, \omega)) - 2f_i \tau(t, X(t, \omega)) = 0, \\ g_j \xi_{i,j}(t, X(t, \omega)) - 2g_{i,t}(t, X(t, \omega)) \int_0^t \tau(s, X(s, \omega)) ds \\ -g_i \tau(t, X(t, \omega)) - g_{i,j} \xi_j(t, X(t, \omega)) = 0 \\ (i = 1, ..., n). \end{aligned}$$
(6.2)

The determining equations for the admitted Lie group of transformations were constructed under the assumption that the Lie group of transformations (4.1)transforms any solution of equation (6.1) into a solution of the same equation.

In the following, we present examples of systems of two equations involving a single Brownian motion. For convenience of notation, we will use the symbols X and Y instead of  $X_1$  and  $X_2$ .

#### 6.1.1 Narrow-sense Linear System

Let  $\mu$ ,  $\nu$  and  $\sigma$  be constants, and  $\sigma \neq 0$ . Consider the system of equations discussed in Gard (1988),

$$dX(t) = Y(t)dt,$$

$$dY(t) = [-\nu^2 X(t) - \mu Y(t)]dt + \sigma dB(t).$$
(6.3)

The system of equations (6.3) is called the narrow-sense linear system. For equations (6.3) the functions corresponding equations (6.2) are  $f_1 = y$ ,  $f_2 = -\nu^2 x - \mu y$ ,  $g_1 = 0$  and  $g_2 = \sigma$ . The system of determining equations for system of equations (6.3) becomes

$$\xi_{1,t} + y\xi_{1,x} - (\nu^2 x + \mu y)\xi_{1,y} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\xi_{1,yy} - 2y\tau - \xi_2 = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{2,t} + y\xi_{2,x} - (\nu^2 x + \mu y)\xi_{2,y} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\xi_{2,yy} + 2(\nu^2 x + \mu y)\tau + \nu^2\xi_1 + \mu\xi_2 = 0, \quad (6.4)$$
  

$$\xi_{1,y} = 0, \quad \xi_{2,y} - \tau = 0.$$

From the last equations of (6.4), one finds

$$\tau = \xi_{2,y}, \quad \xi_1 = \xi_1(t,x).$$

Substituting these into the remaining equations of (6.4), one obtains that the functions  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$  have to satisfy the system of equations

$$\xi_{1,t} + y\xi_{1,x} - 2y\xi_{2,y} - \xi_2 = 0,$$

$$\xi_{2,t} + y\xi_{2,x} + (\nu^2 x + \mu y)\xi_{2,y} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\xi_{2,yy} + \nu^2\xi_1 + \mu\xi_2 = 0.$$
(6.5)

$$\xi_{1,x} - 2y\xi_{2,yy} - 3\xi_{2,y} = 0. \tag{6.6}$$

Differentiating equation (6.6) with respect to y again, one finds

$$2y\xi_{2,yyy} + 5\xi_{2,yy} = 0,$$

thus

$$\xi_2 = H_1(t, x) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{y}} H_2(t, x) + y H_3(t, x).$$

Substituting this  $\xi_2$  into the second equation of (6.5), one obtains

$$\frac{3}{8}\sigma^2 y^{-\frac{5}{2}}H_2 - \frac{1}{2}y^{-\frac{3}{2}}\nu^2 xH_2 + y^{-\frac{1}{2}}(\frac{1}{2}\mu H_2 + H_{2,t}) + y^{\frac{1}{2}}H_{2,x}$$
$$+ y(H_{3,t} + H_{1,x} + 2\mu H_3) + y^2 H_{3,x} + H_{1,t} + \nu x^2 H_3 + \nu^2 \xi_1 + \mu H_1 = 0.$$

Splitting the last equation with respect to y, one has

$$H_2 = 0, \quad H_{3,x} = 0, \quad H_{1,t} + \nu x^2 H_3 + \nu^2 \xi_1 + \mu H_1 = 0,$$
 (6.7)

so that  $H_3 = f(t)$ . Substituting  $\xi_2$  into equation (6.6), one finds

$$\xi_{1,x} = 3f(t),$$

then  $\xi_1 = f(t)x + g(t)$ . Substituting it into the first equation of (6.5), one obtains

$$H_1 = 3xf' + g'.$$

Substituting this  $H_1$  into the third equation of (6.7), one finds

$$x(3f'' + \nu^2 f + 3\mu f) + \nu x^2 f + g'' + \mu g' + \nu^2 g = 0.$$

Splitting the last equation with respect to x, one has

$$f(t) = 0, \quad g'' + \mu g' + \nu^2 g = 0,$$

and hence

$$g = C_1 e^{\gamma_1 t} + C_2 e^{\gamma_2 t}$$

where  $\gamma_1 = -\frac{1}{2}(\mu + \sqrt{\mu^2 - 4\nu^2})$  and  $\gamma_2 = -\frac{1}{2}(\mu - \sqrt{\mu^2 - 4\nu^2})$ . Thus

$$\xi_1 = g = C_1 e^{\gamma_1 t} + C_2 e^{\gamma_2 t}, \quad \xi_2 = g' = C_1 \gamma_1 e^{\gamma_1 t} + C_2 \gamma_2 e^{\gamma_2 t}. \tag{6.8}$$

Hence  $\tau = 0$ , and h = 0. Thus, a basis of generator corresponding to (6.8) is

$$e^{\gamma_1 t} \partial_x + \gamma_1 e^{\gamma_1 t} \partial_y, \quad e^{\gamma_2 t} \partial_x + \gamma_2 e^{\gamma_2 t} \partial_y.$$

The Lie group of transformations corresponding to the first admitted generator is

$$\bar{x} = x + ae^{\gamma_1 t}, \quad \bar{y} = y + a\gamma_1 e^{\gamma_1 t}, \quad \bar{t} = t.$$
 (6.9)

Applying Itô's formula to the functions  $\varphi_1 = x + ae^{\gamma_1 t}$  and  $\varphi_2 = y + a\gamma_1 e^{\gamma_1 t}$ , one has

$$\begin{aligned} X(t) + ae^{\gamma_1 t} &= X(0) + a + \int_0^t (Y(s) + ae^{\gamma_1 s}) ds, \\ Y(t) + ae^{\gamma_1 t} &= Y(0) + a + \int_0^t \left( -\nu^2 (X(s) + ae^{\gamma_1 s}) - \mu (Y(s) + ae^{\gamma_1 s}) \right) ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \sigma dB(s). \end{aligned}$$

Since  $\bar{X}(\bar{t},\omega) = \bar{X}(t,\omega) = \varphi_1(t,X(t,\omega),a) = X(t,\omega) + ae^{\gamma_1 t}$  and  $\bar{Y}(\bar{t},\omega) = \bar{Y}(t,\omega) = \varphi_2(t,X(t,\omega),a) = Y(t,\omega) + a\gamma_1 e^{\gamma_1 t}$ , one has

$$\bar{X}(\bar{t},\omega) = \bar{X}(0,\omega) + \int_0^{\bar{t}} \bar{Y}(s,\omega) ds,$$
  
$$\bar{Y}(\bar{t},\omega) = \bar{Y}(0,\omega) + \int_0^{\bar{t}} \left(-\nu^2 \bar{X}(s,\omega) - \mu \bar{Y}(s,\omega)\right) ds + \int_0^{\bar{t}} \sigma dB(s).$$

This confirms that this Lie group transforms a solution of (6.3) into a solution of the same system.

The Lie group of transformations corresponding to the second admitted generator is

$$\bar{x} = x + ae^{\gamma_2 t}, \quad \bar{y} = y + a\gamma_2 e^{\gamma_2 t}, \quad \bar{t} = t.$$
 (6.10)

We can show similarly as above that this Lie group transforms a solution of (6.3) into a solution of the same system.

#### 6.1.2 Graph of Brownian Motion

Consider the system of equations discussed in Oksendal (1998),

$$dX(t) = dt,$$
  

$$dY(t) = dB(t).$$
(6.11)

The solution of equations (6.11) with the initial condition  $(X(0), Y(0)) = (t_0, y_0)$ may be regarded as the graph of Brownian motion. For equations (6.11) the corresponding functions of equations (6.2) are  $f_1 = 1$ ,  $f_2 = 0$ ,  $g_1 = 0$  and  $g_2 = 1$ . The system of determining equations for equations (6.11) becomes

$$\xi_{1,t} + \xi_{1,x} + \frac{1}{2}\xi_{1,yy} - 2\tau = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{2,t} + \xi_{2,x} + \frac{1}{2}\xi_{2,yy} = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{1,y} = 0, \quad \xi_{2,y} - \tau = 0.$$
  
(6.12)

From the last two equations of (6.12) one finds

$$\tau = \xi_{2,y}, \quad \xi_1 = \xi_1(t,x).$$

Substituting these values into the remaining equations of (6.12), one obtains that the functions  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$  have to satisfy the system of equations

$$\xi_{1,t} + \xi_{1,x} - 2\xi_{2,y} = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{2,t} + \xi_{2,x} + \frac{1}{2}\xi_{2,yy} = 0.$$
(6.13)

Differentiating the first equation of (6.13) with respect to y, one gets

 $\xi_{2,yy} = 0,$ 

thus

$$\xi_2 = F(t, x)y + G(t, x).$$

Substituting it into the remaining equation of (6.13), one obtains

$$y(F_t + F_x) + G_t + G_x = 0. (6.14)$$

Splitting the last equation with respect to y, one has

$$F_t + F_x = 0, \quad G_t + G_x = 0.$$

The general solution of these equations is

$$F = F_1, \quad G = F_2.$$

where  $F_1 = F_1(t - x)$  and  $F_2 = F_2(t - x)$ . Substituting  $\xi_2$  into the first equation of (6.13), one obtains

$$\xi_{1,t} + \xi_{1,x} - 2F_1 = 0.$$

Hence

$$\xi_1 = 2xF_1 + F_3, \quad \xi_2 = yF_1 + F_2, \quad \tau = F_1,$$
(6.15)

where  $F_3 = F_3(t - x)$ . A basis of generators corresponding to (6.15) is

$$F_2\partial_y$$
,  $F_3\partial_x$ ,  $F_1(2x\partial_x + y\partial_y) + h\partial_t$ .

where  $h = 2 \int_0^t F_1(s-x) ds$ .

Notice that if the first equation of (6.11) is considered as an ordinary differential equation (i.e., the function  $X(t, \omega)$  does not depend on  $\omega$ ), then the functions  $F_1$ ,  $F_2$  and  $F_3$  are constant.

The Lie group of transformations corresponding to the first admitted generator is

$$\bar{x} = x, \quad \bar{y} = y + F_2 a, \quad \bar{t} = t.$$
 (6.16)

It is not difficult to show that this Lie group transforms a solution of (6.11) into a solution of the same system. Let us construct the Lie group of transformations corresponding to the third generator for the particular case defined by the assumption that  $F_1 = k$ , where k is constant. In this case the generator becomes

$$2x\partial_x + y\partial_y + 2t\partial_t.$$

For finding the Lie group of transformations corresponding to this generator, one has to solve the Lie equations

$$\frac{\partial H}{\partial a} = 2H, \quad \frac{\partial \varphi_1}{\partial a} = 2\varphi_1, \quad \frac{\partial \varphi_2}{\partial a} = \varphi_2,$$

with the initial conditions for a = 0:

$$H = t, \quad \varphi_1 = x, \quad \varphi_2 = y.$$

The solution of this Cauchy problem gives the transformations of the independent variable t and the dependent variables x and y,

$$\bar{t} = H = te^{2a}, \quad \bar{x} = \varphi_1 = xe^{2a}, \quad \bar{y} = \varphi_2 = ye^a.$$
 (6.17)

Hence  $\eta^2 = H_t = e^{2a}$ .

Let us show that the Lie group of transformation (6.17) transforms a solution of equations (6.11) into a solution of the same equations. Assume that (X(t), Y(t)) is a solution of equations (6.11). According to theorem 3.1, the Brownian motion B(t) is transformed to the Brownian motion

$$\bar{B}(t) = \int_0^{\alpha(t)} e^a dB(s),$$
(6.18)

where

$$\beta(t) = \int_0^t e^{2a} ds = t e^{2a}, \quad \alpha(t) = \inf_{s \ge 0} \{s : \beta(s) > t\} = t e^{-2a}, \quad t \ge 0$$

Applying Itô's formula to the functions  $\varphi_1(t, x, y, a) = xe^{2a}$  and  $\varphi_2(t, x, y, a) = ye^a$ , one has

$$\varphi_{1}(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \varphi_{1}(0, X(0, \omega), Y(0, \omega), a) + \int_{0}^{t} e^{2a} ds,$$
  

$$\varphi_{2}(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \varphi_{2}(0, X(0, \omega), Y(0, \omega), a) + \int_{0}^{t} e^{a} dB(s).$$
(6.19)

By virtue of (4.9),

$$\frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial \bar{t}}(\bar{t}) = e^{-2a}.$$

Changing the variable of the integral  $s = \alpha(\bar{s})$  in the Riemann integral in (6.19), it becomes

$$\int_0^t e^{2a} ds = \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{s}.$$

Because of the transformation of the Brownian motion (6.18), the Itô integral in (6.19) becomes

$$\int_0^t e^a dB(s) = \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}(\bar{s}).$$

Since  $\varphi_1(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \overline{X}(\beta(t), \omega)$ , and  $\varphi_2(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \overline{Y}(\beta(t), \omega)$ , one has

$$\bar{X}(\beta(t),\omega) = \bar{X}(0,\omega) + \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} ds,$$
  
$$\bar{Y}(\beta(t),\omega) = \bar{Y}(0,\omega) + \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}(s)$$

This confirms that the Lie group of transformations (6.17) transforms any solution of system (6.11) into a solution of the same system.

#### 6.1.3 Black and Scholes Market

Consider the system of equations discussed in Oksendal (1998),

$$dX(t) = \rho X(t)dt,$$

$$dY(t) = \mu Y(t)dt + \sigma Y(t)dB(t),$$
(6.20)

where  $\rho$ ,  $\mu$  and  $\sigma$  are nonzero constants. The system of equations (6.20) with the initial condition X(0) = 1, Y(0) = y > 0 is called the Black and Scholes market. For equations (6.20) the corresponding functions of equations (6.2) are  $f_1 = \rho x$ ,  $f_2 = \mu y$ ,  $g_1 = 0$  and  $g_2 = \sigma y$ . The system of determining equations for equations (6.20) becomes

$$\xi_{1,t} + \rho x \xi_{1,x} + \mu y \xi_{1,y} + \frac{1}{2} \sigma^2 y^2 \xi_{1,yy} - 2\rho x \tau - \rho \xi_1 = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{2,t} + \rho x \xi_{2,x} + \mu y \xi_{2,y} + \frac{1}{2} \sigma^2 y^2 \xi_{2,yy} - 2\mu y \tau - \mu \xi_2 = 0,$$
  

$$y \xi_{1,y} = 0, \quad y \xi_{2,y} - y \tau - \xi_2 = 0.$$
  
(6.21)

From the last pair of equations of (6.21), one finds

$$\xi_1 = \xi_1(t, x), \quad \tau = \xi_{2,y} - \frac{\xi_2}{y}.$$

Substituting these into the remaining equations of (6.21), one obtains that the functions  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$  have to satisfy the system of equations

$$\xi_{1,t} + \rho x \xi_{1,x} - 2\rho x (\xi_{2,y} - \frac{\xi_2}{y}) - \rho \xi_1 = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{2,t} + \rho x \xi_{2,x} - \mu y \xi_{2,y} + \frac{1}{2} \sigma^2 y^2 \xi_{2,yy} + \mu \xi_2 = 0.$$
(6.22)

Differentiating the first equation of (6.22) with respect to y, one gets

$$\xi_{2,yy} - \frac{1}{y}\xi_{2,y} + \frac{1}{y^2}\xi_2 = 0,$$

thus

$$\xi_2 = yF(t,x) + y\ln yG(t,x).$$

Substituting this  $\xi_2$  into the second equation of (6.22), one obtains

$$y(F_t + \rho x F_x - (\mu - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2)G) + y \ln y(G_t + \rho x G_x) = 0.$$

Splitting the last equation with respect to y, one has

$$G_t + \rho x G_x = 0, \quad F_t + \rho x F_x - (\mu - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2)G = 0.$$

Thus

$$G = F_1, \quad F = \gamma \ln x F_1 + F_2$$

where  $F_1 = F_1(t - \frac{\ln x}{\rho})$ ,  $F_2 = F_2(t - \frac{\ln x}{\rho})$  and  $\gamma = \frac{1}{\rho}(\mu - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2)$ . Substituting  $\xi_2$  into the first equation of (6.22), one obtains

$$\xi_{1,t} + \rho x \xi_{1,x} - \rho \xi_1 - 2\rho x F_1 = 0.$$

Hence,

$$\xi_1 = 2x \ln x F_1 + x F_3, \quad \xi_2 = (y \ln y + \gamma y \ln x) F_1 + y F_2, \quad \tau = F_1, \tag{6.23}$$

where  $F_3 = F_3(t - \frac{\ln x}{\rho})$ . A basis of generators corresponding to (6.23) is

$$yF_2\partial_y, \quad xF_3\partial_x, \quad F_1(2x\ln x\partial_x + (y\ln y + \gamma y\ln x)\partial_y) + h\partial_t,$$

where  $h = 2 \int_0^t F_1(s - \frac{\ln x}{\rho}) ds$ .

The Lie group of transformations corresponding to the first admitted generator is

$$\bar{x} = x, \quad \bar{y} = y \exp(F_2 a), \quad \bar{t} = t.$$
 (6.24)

It is not difficult to show that this Lie group transforms a solution of (6.20) into a solution of the same system.

Let us construct the Lie group of transformations corresponding to the third generator for the particular case determined by the assumption  $F_1 = k$ , where k is constant. In this case the generator becomes

$$2x\ln x\partial_x + (y\ln y + \gamma y\ln x)\partial_y + 2t\partial_t.$$

For finding the Lie group of transformations corresponding to this generator, one has to solve the Lie equations

$$\frac{\partial H}{\partial a} = 2H, \quad \frac{\partial \varphi_1}{\partial a} = 2\varphi_1 \ln \varphi_1, \quad \frac{\partial \varphi_2}{\partial a} = \varphi_2 \ln \varphi_2 + \gamma \varphi_2 \ln \varphi_1,$$

with the initial conditions for a = 0:

$$H = t, \quad \varphi_1 = x, \quad \varphi_2 = y.$$

The solution of this Cauchy problem gives the transformations of the independent variable t and the dependent variables x and y,

$$\bar{t} = H = te^{2a}, \quad \bar{x} = \varphi_1 = \exp\left(e^{2a}\ln x\right), \quad \bar{y} = \varphi_2 = \exp\left(\gamma e^{2a}\ln x + (\ln y - \gamma x)e^a\right).$$
(6.25)

Hence  $\eta^2 = H_t = e^{2a}$ .

Let us show that the Lie group of transformation (6.25) transforms a solution of equations (6.20) into a solution of the same equations. Assume that (X(t), Y(t)) is a solution of equations (6.20). The Brownian motion B(t) is transformed according to the formula

$$\bar{B}(t) = \int_{0}^{\alpha(t)} e^{a} dB(s), \qquad (6.26)$$

where

$$\beta(t) = \int_0^t e^{2a} ds = t e^{2a}, \quad \alpha(t) = \inf_{s \ge 0} \{s : \beta(s) > t\} = t e^{-2a}, \quad t \ge 0.$$

Applying Itô's formula to the functions  $\varphi_1(t, x, y, a) = \exp(e^{2a} \ln x)$  and  $\varphi_2(t, x, y, a) = \exp(\gamma e^{2a} \ln x + (\ln y - \gamma x)e^a)$ , one has

$$\varphi_{1}(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \varphi_{1}(0, X(0, \omega), Y(0, \omega), a) + \int_{0}^{t} \rho \exp\left(\ln X(s, \omega)e^{2a}\right)e^{2a}ds,$$
  
$$\varphi_{2}(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \varphi_{2}(0, X(0, \omega), Y(0, \omega), a) + \int_{0}^{t} \mu \exp\left(\gamma e^{2a}\ln X(s, \omega) + \left(\ln Y(s, \omega) - \gamma X(s, \omega)\right)e^{a}\right)e^{2a}d(s) + \int_{0}^{t} \sigma \exp\left(\gamma e^{2a}\ln X(s, \omega) + \left(\ln Y(s, \omega) - \gamma X(s, \omega)\right)e^{a}\right)e^{a}dB(s).$$
(6.27)

By virtue of (4.9),

$$\frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial \bar{t}}(\bar{t}) = e^{-2a}$$

Changing the variable of the integral  $s = \alpha(\bar{s})$  in the Riemann integrals in (6.27), they become

$$\int_{0}^{t} \rho \exp\left(e^{2a} \ln X(s)\right) e^{2a} ds = \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} \rho \exp\left(e^{2a} \ln X(\alpha(s))\right) d\bar{s},$$
$$\int_{0}^{t} \mu \exp\left(\gamma e^{2a} \ln X(s) + \left(\ln Y(s) - \gamma X(s)\right) e^{a}\right) e^{2a} d(s)$$
$$= \int_{0}^{t} \mu \exp\left(\gamma e^{2a} \ln X(\alpha(s)) + \left(\ln Y(\alpha(s)) - \gamma X(\alpha(s))\right) e^{a}\right) d\bar{s}.$$

Because of the transformation of the Brownian motion (6.26) and the change of Brownian motion in the Itô integral (4.7), the Itô integral in (6.27) becomes

$$\int_0^t \sigma \exp\left(\gamma e^{2a} \ln X(s) + (\ln Y(s) - \gamma X(s))e^a\right) e^a dB(s)$$
  
= 
$$\int_0^{\beta(t)} \sigma \exp\left(\gamma e^{2a} \ln X(\alpha(s))e^{2a} + (\ln Y(\alpha(s)) - \gamma X(\alpha(s)))e^a\right) d\bar{B}(\bar{s}).$$

Because  $\exp\left(\gamma e^{2a} \ln X(\alpha(s,\omega)) + \left(\ln Y(\alpha(s,\omega)) - \gamma X(\alpha(s,\omega))\right)e^a\right) = \bar{Y}(s,\omega)$  and  $\exp\left(e^{2a} \ln X(\alpha(s),\omega)\right) = \bar{X}(s,\omega)$ , one gets

$$\varphi_1(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \varphi_1(0, X(0, \omega), Y(0, \omega), a) + \int_0^{\beta(t)} \rho \bar{X}(s, \omega) ds,$$
  
$$\varphi_2(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \varphi_2(0, X(0, \omega), Y(0, \omega), a)$$
  
$$+ \int_0^{\beta(t)} \mu \bar{Y}(s, \omega) d(s) + \int_0^{\beta(t)} \sigma \bar{Y}(s, \omega) dB(s).$$

Since  $\varphi_1(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \bar{X}(\beta(t), \omega)$ , and  $\varphi_2(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \bar{Y}(\beta(t), \omega)$ , one has

$$\bar{X}(\beta(t),\omega) = \bar{X}(0,\omega) + \int_0^{\beta(t)} \rho \bar{X}(s,\omega) ds,$$
$$\bar{Y}(\beta(t),\omega) = \bar{Y}(0,\omega) + \int_0^{\beta(t)} \mu \bar{Y}(s,\omega) d(s) + \int_0^{\beta(t)} \sigma \bar{Y}(s,\omega) dB(s) ds,$$

This confirms that the Lie group of transformations (6.25) transforms any solution of system (6.20) into a solution of the same system.

#### 6.1.4 Mean-reverting Ornstein-Uhlenbeck Process

Consider the system of equations discussed in Oksendal (1998),

$$dX(t) = \rho X(t)dt,$$

$$dY(t) = (m - Y(t))dt + \sigma dB(t),$$
(6.28)

where  $\rho > 0$ , m > 0 and  $\sigma \neq 0$  are constants. For equations (6.28) the functions corresponding equations of (6.2) are  $f_1 = \rho x$ ,  $f_2 = m - y$ ,  $g_1 = 0$  and  $g_2 = \sigma$ . The system of determining equations for system of equations (6.28) becomes

$$\xi_{1,t} + \rho x \xi_{1,x} + (m-y)\xi_{1,y} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 \xi_{1,yy} - 2\rho x\tau - \rho \xi_1 = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{2,t} + \rho x \xi_{2,x} + (m-y)\xi_{2,y} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 \xi_{2,yy} - 2(m-y)\tau + \xi_2 = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{1,y} = 0, \quad \xi_{2,y} - \tau = 0.$$
(6.29)

From the last pair of equations of (6.31), one finds

$$\xi_1 = \xi_1(t, x), \quad \tau = \xi_{2,y}.$$

Substituting them into the remaining equations of (6.21), one obtains that the function  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$  have to satisfy the system of equations

$$\xi_{1,t} + \rho x \xi_{1,x} - 2\rho x \xi_{2,y} - \rho \xi_1 = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{2,t} + \rho x \xi_{2,x} - (m-y) \xi_{2,y} + \frac{1}{2} \sigma^2 y^2 \xi_{2,yy} + \xi_2 = 0.$$
(6.30)

Differentiating the first equation of (6.31) with respect to y, one gets

$$\xi_{2,yy} = 0,$$

thus

$$\xi_2 = yF(t,x) + G(t,x).$$

Substituting it into the second equation of (6.31), one obtains

$$y(F_t + \rho x F_x + 2F) + G_t + \rho x G_x + G - mF = 0.$$

Splitting this equation with respect to y, one has

$$F_t + \rho x F_x + 2F = 0, \quad G_t + \rho x G_x + G - mF = 0,$$

thus

$$F = x^{\gamma} F_1, \quad G = -mx^{\gamma} F_1 + x^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} F_2$$

where  $F_1 = F_1(t - \frac{\ln x}{\rho})$ ,  $F_2 = F_2(t - \frac{\ln x}{\rho})$  and  $\gamma = -\frac{2}{\rho}$ . Substituting  $\xi_2$  into the first equation of (6.31), one obtains

$$\xi_{1,t} + \rho x \xi_{1,x} - \rho \xi_1 - 2\rho x F_1 = 0.$$

Hence,

$$\xi_1 = \frac{2}{\gamma} x^{\gamma+1} F_1 + x F_3, \quad \xi_2 = (x^{\gamma} y - m x^{\gamma}) F_1 + x^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} F_2, \quad \tau = x^{\gamma} F_1, \tag{6.31}$$

where  $F_3 = F_3(t - \frac{\ln x}{\rho})$ . A basis of generators corresponding to (6.31) is

$$x^{\frac{\gamma}{2}-1}F_2\partial_y, \quad xF_3\partial_x, \quad F_1\left(\frac{2}{\gamma}x^{\gamma+1}\partial_x + (x^{\gamma}y - mx^{\gamma})\partial_y\right) + h\partial_t,$$

where  $h = 2 \int_0^t x^{\gamma} F_1(s - \frac{\ln x}{\rho}) ds$ .

The Lie group of transformations corresponding to the first admitted generator is

$$\bar{x} = x, \quad \bar{y} = y + ax^{\frac{\gamma}{2}}F_2, \quad \bar{t} = t.$$
 (6.32)

It is not difficult to show that this Lie group transforms a solution of (6.28) into a solution of the same system.

Let us construct the Lie group of transformations corresponding to the third generator for the particular case determined by the assumption  $F_1 = k$ , where k is constant. In this case the generator becomes

$$\frac{2}{\gamma}x^{\gamma+1}\partial_x + (x^{\gamma}y - mx^{\gamma})\partial_y + 2x^{\gamma}t\partial_t.$$

For finding the Lie group of transformations corresponding to this generator, one has to solve the Lie equations

$$\frac{\partial H}{\partial a} = 2\varphi_2^{\gamma}H, \quad \frac{\partial \varphi_1}{\partial a} = \frac{2}{\gamma}\varphi_1^{\gamma+1}, \quad \frac{\partial \varphi_2}{\partial a} = \varphi_1^{\gamma}\varphi_2 - m\varphi_1^{\gamma},$$

with the initial conditions a = 0:

$$H = t, \quad \varphi_1 = x, \quad \varphi_2 = y.$$

The solution of this Cauchy problem gives the transformations of the independent variable t and the dependent variables x and y,

$$\bar{t} = H = tx^{-\gamma}(x^{-\gamma} - 2a)^{-1}, \quad \bar{x} = \varphi_1 = (x^{-\gamma} - 2a)^{-\frac{1}{\gamma}},$$
  
$$\bar{y} = \varphi_2 = (y - m)x^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}}(x^{-\gamma} - 2a)^{-\frac{1}{2}} + m.$$
  
(6.33)

Hence  $\eta^2 = H_t = x^{-\gamma} (x^{-\gamma} - 2a)^{-1}$ .

Let us show that the Lie group of transformation (6.33) transforms a solution of equations (6.28) into a solution of the same equations. Assume that (X(t), Y(t)) is a solution of equations (6.28). The Brownian motion B(t) is transformed according to the formula

$$\bar{B}(t) = \int_0^{\alpha(t)} X^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}}(s) (X^{-\gamma}(s) - 2a)^{-\frac{1}{2}} dB(s), \quad t \ge 0,$$
(6.34)

where

$$\beta(t) = \int_0^t X^{-\gamma}(s) (X^{-\gamma}(s) - 2a)^{-1} ds, \quad \alpha(t) = \inf_{s \ge 0} \{s : \beta(s) > t\}, \quad t \ge 0.$$

Applying Itô's formula to the functions  $\varphi_1(t, x, y, a) = (x^{-\gamma} - 2a)^{-\frac{1}{\gamma}}$  and  $\varphi_2(t, x, y, a) = (y - m)x^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}}(x^{-\gamma} - 2a)^{-\frac{1}{2}} + m$ , one has

$$\varphi_{1}(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \varphi_{1}(0, X(0, \omega), Y(0, \omega), a) + \int_{0}^{t} \rho X^{-\gamma-1}(s) (X^{-\gamma}(s) - 2a)^{-\frac{1}{\gamma}-1} ds, \varphi_{2}(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \varphi_{2}(0, X(0, \omega), Y(0, \omega), a) + \int_{0}^{t} (m - Y(s)) X^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}}(s) X^{-\gamma}(s) (X(s)^{-\gamma} - 2a)^{-\frac{3}{2}} ds + \int_{0}^{t} \sigma X^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}}(s) (X(s)^{-\gamma} - 2a)^{-\frac{1}{2}} dB(s).$$
(6.35)

By virtue of (4.9),

$$\frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial \bar{t}}(\bar{t}) = X^{\gamma}(s)(X^{-\gamma}(s) - 2a).$$

Changing the variable of the integral  $s = \alpha(\bar{s})$  in the Riemann integrals in (6.35), they become

$$\int_{0}^{t} \rho X^{-\gamma-1}(s) (X^{-\gamma}(s) - 2a)^{-\frac{1}{\gamma}-1} ds = \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} \rho X^{-\gamma}(\alpha(s)) - 2a)^{-\frac{1}{\gamma}} d\bar{s},$$
  
$$\int_{0}^{t} (m - Y(s)) X^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}}(s) X^{-\gamma}(s) (X(s)^{-\gamma} - 2a)^{-\frac{3}{2}} ds$$
  
$$= \int_{0}^{t} (m - Y(\alpha(s))) X^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}}(\alpha(s)) (X(\alpha(s))^{-\gamma} - 2a)^{-\frac{1}{2}} d\bar{s}$$
  
$$= \int_{0}^{t} (m - (Y(\alpha(s) - m)) X^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}}(\alpha(s)) (X(\alpha(s))^{-\gamma} - 2a)^{-\frac{1}{2}} - m) d\bar{s}.$$

Because of the transformation of the Brownian motion (6.34), the Itô integral in (6.35) becomes

$$\int_0^t \sigma X^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}}(s) (X(s)^{-\gamma} - 2a)^{-\frac{1}{2}} dB(s) = \int_0^{\beta(t)} \sigma d\bar{B}(\bar{s})$$

Since  $(Y(\alpha(\bar{t}),\omega) - m)X^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}}(\alpha(\bar{t}),\omega)(X^{-\gamma}(\alpha(\bar{t}),\omega) - 2a)^{-\frac{1}{2}} + m = \bar{Y}(\bar{t},\omega)$  and  $(X^{-\gamma}(\alpha(\bar{t}),\omega) - 2a)^{-\frac{1}{\gamma}} = \bar{X}(\bar{t},\omega)$ , one gets

$$\begin{aligned} \varphi_1(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) &= \varphi_1(0, X(0, \omega), Y(0, \omega), a) + \int_0^{\beta(t)} \rho \bar{X}(s, \omega) ds, \\ \varphi_2(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) &= \varphi_2(0, X(0, \omega), Y(0, \omega), a) \\ &+ \int_0^{\beta(t)} \left( m - \bar{Y}(s, \omega) \right) ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} \sigma d\bar{B}(s). \end{aligned}$$

Because  $\varphi_1(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \overline{X}(\beta(t), \omega)$ , and  $\varphi_2(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \overline{Y}(\beta(t), \omega)$ , one has

$$\bar{X}(\beta(t),\omega) = \bar{X}(0,\omega) + \int_0^{\beta(t)} \rho \bar{X}(s,\omega) ds,$$
  
$$\bar{Y}(\beta(t),\omega) = \bar{Y}(0,\omega) + \int_0^{\beta(t)} \left(m - \bar{Y}(s,\omega)\right) ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} \sigma d\bar{B}(s).$$

This confirms that the Lie group of transformations (6.33) transforms any solution of system (6.60) into a solution of the same system.

#### 6.1.5 Nonlinear Itô System

Consider the system of equations discussed in Oksendal (1998),

$$dX(t) = dt,$$

$$dY(t) = Y(t)dt + e^{X(t)}dB(t).$$
(6.36)

For equations (6.36), the corresponding functions of equations (6.2) are  $f_1 = 1$ ,  $f_2 = y, g_1 = 0$  and  $g_2 = e^x$ . The system of determining equations for equations (6.36) becomes

$$\xi_{1,t} + \xi_{1,x} + y\xi_{1,y} + \frac{1}{2}e^{x}\xi_{1,yy} - 2\tau = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{2,t} + \xi_{2,x} + y\xi_{2,y} + \frac{1}{2}e^{x}\xi_{2,yy} - 2y\tau - \xi_{2} = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{1,y} = 0, \quad \xi_{2,y} - \tau - \xi_{1} = 0.$$
(6.37)

From the last pair of equations of (6.37) one finds

$$\xi_1 = \xi_1(t, x), \quad \tau = \xi_{2,y} - \xi_1.$$

Substituting them into the remaining equations of (6.37), one obtains that the function  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$  have to satisfy the system of equations

$$\xi_{1,t} + \xi_{1,x} - 2(\xi_{2,y} - \xi_1) = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{2,t} + \xi_{2,x} - y\xi_{2,y} + \frac{1}{2}e^x\xi_{2,yy} + 2y\xi_1 - \xi_2 = 0.$$
(6.38)

Differentiating the first equation of (6.38) with respect to y, one obtains

$$\xi_{2,yy} = 0,$$

thus

$$\xi_2 = F(t, x)y + G(t, x).$$

Substituting it into equations (6.38), one finds

$$\xi_{1,t} + \xi_{1,x} - 2(F - \xi_1) = 0,$$

$$y(F_t + F_x - 2F + 2\xi_1) + G_t + G_x - G = 0.$$
(6.39)

Splitting the last equation of (6.39) with respect to y, one has

$$F_t + F_x - 2F + 2\xi_1 = 0, \quad G_t + G_x - G = 0. \tag{6.40}$$

From the second of (6.40) one finds

$$G = e^x F_1,$$

where  $F_1 = F_1(t - x)$ . From the first equation of (6.39) one gets

$$F = \frac{1}{2}(2\xi_1 + \xi_{1,t} + \xi_{1,x})$$

Substituting it into the first equation of (6.40), one obtains

$$\xi_{1,tt} + 2\xi_{1,tx} + \xi_{1,xx} = 0,$$

then

$$\xi_1 = xF_2 + F_3,$$

where  $F_2 = F_2(t-x)$ , and  $F_3 = F_3(t-x)$ . Substituting it into the first of equation of (6.39), one gets

$$F = F_2(\frac{1}{2} + x) + F_3.$$

Hence,

$$\xi_1 = F_2 x + F_3, \quad \xi_2 = F_1 e^x + F_2 (\frac{1}{2} + x)y + F_3 y, \quad \tau = \frac{1}{2} F_2.$$
 (6.41)

A basis of generators corresponding (6.42) is

$$F_1 e^x \partial_y, \quad F_3(\partial_x + y \partial_y), \quad F_2(x \partial_x + (\frac{1}{2} + x)y \partial_y) + h \partial_t,$$

where  $h = 2 \int_0^t F_2(s-x) ds$ .

Notice that if the first equation of (6.36) is considered as an ordinary differential equation (i.e., the function  $X(t, \omega)$  does not depend on  $\omega$ ), then the functions  $F_1$ ,  $F_2$  and  $F_3$  are constant. The Lie group of transformations corresponding to the first admitted generator is

$$\bar{x} = x, \quad \bar{y} = y + e^x F_2 a, \quad \bar{t} = t.$$
 (6.42)

It is not difficult to show that this Lie group transforms a solution of (6.36) into a solution of the same system.

Let us construct the Lie group of transformations corresponding to the third generator for the particular case determined by the assumption  $F_2 = k$ , where k is constant. In this case the generator becomes

$$2x\partial_x + (1+2x)y\partial_y + 2t\partial_t.$$

For finding the Lie group of transformations corresponding to this generator, one has to solve the Lie equations

$$\frac{\partial H}{\partial a} = 2H, \quad \frac{\partial \varphi_1}{\partial a} = 2\varphi_1, \quad \frac{\partial \varphi_2}{\partial a} = (1+2\varphi_1)\varphi_2,$$

with the initial conditions for a = 0:

$$H = t, \quad \varphi_1 = x, \quad \varphi_2 = y$$

The solution of this Cauchy problem gives the transformations of the independent variable t and the dependent variables x and y,

$$\bar{t} = H = te^{2a}, \quad \bar{x} = \varphi_1 = xe^{2a}, \quad \bar{y} = \varphi_2 = y \exp(a + xe^{2a} - x).$$
 (6.43)

Hence  $\eta^2 = H_t = e^{2a}$ .

Let us show that the Lie group of transformation (6.43) transforms a solution of equations (6.36) into a solution of the same equations. Assume that (X(t), Y(t)) is a solution of equations (6.36). The Brownian motion B(t) is transformed according to the formula

$$\bar{B}(t) = \int_0^{\alpha(t)} e^a dB(s),$$
(6.44)

where

$$\beta(t) = \int_0^t e^{2a} ds = t e^{2a}, \quad \alpha(t) = \inf_{s \ge 0} \{s : \beta(s) > t\} = t e^{-2a}, \quad t \ge 0.$$

Applying Itô's formula to the functions  $\varphi_1(t, x, y, a) = xe^{2a}$  and  $\varphi_2(t, x, y, a) = y \exp(a + xe^{2a} - x)$ , one has

$$\begin{aligned} \varphi_1(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) &= \varphi_1(0, X(0, \omega), Y(0, \omega), a) + \int_0^t e^{2a} ds, \\ \varphi_2(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) &= \varphi_2(0, X(0, \omega), Y(0, \omega), a) \\ &+ \int_0^t Y(s) \exp\left(a + X(s, \omega)e^{2a} - X(s, \omega)\right) e^{2a} ds + \int_0^t \exp(a + X(s, \omega)e^{2a}) dB(s). \end{aligned}$$
(6.45)

By virtue of (4.9),

$$\frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial \bar{t}}(\bar{t}) = e^{-2a}.$$

Changing the variable of the integral  $s = \alpha(\bar{s})$  in the Riemann integrals in (6.45), they become

$$\int_{0}^{t} e^{2a} ds = \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} d\bar{s},$$
  
$$\int_{0}^{t} Y(s) \exp\left(a + X(s)e^{2a} - X(s)\right)e^{2a} ds$$
  
$$= \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} Y(\alpha(\bar{s})) \exp\left(a + X(\alpha(\bar{s}))e^{2a} - X(\alpha(\bar{s}))\right) d\bar{s}.$$

Because of the transformation of the Brownian motion (6.44) and the change of Brownian motion in the Itô integral (4.7), the Itô integral in (6.45) becomes

$$\int_0^t \exp(a + X(s)e^{2a}) dB(s) = \int_0^{\beta(t)} \exp(X(\alpha(\bar{s}))e^{2a}) d\bar{B}(\bar{s}).$$

Since  $Y(\alpha(\bar{t}), \omega) \exp\left(a + X(\alpha(\bar{t}), \omega)e^{2a} - X(\alpha(\bar{t}), \omega)\right) = \bar{Y}(\bar{t}, \omega)$  and  $X(\alpha(\bar{t}), \omega)e^{2a} = \bar{X}(\bar{t}, \omega)$ , one gets

$$\bar{X}(\beta(t),\omega) = \bar{X}(0,\omega) + \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} ds,$$
  
$$\bar{Y}(\beta(t),\omega) = \bar{Y}(0,\omega) + \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} \bar{Y}(s,\omega)ds + \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} e^{\bar{X}(s,\omega)}d\bar{B}(s).$$

Because  $\varphi_1(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \overline{X}(\beta(t), \omega)$ , and  $\varphi_2(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \overline{Y}(\beta(t), \omega)$ , one has

$$\bar{X}(\beta(t),\omega) = \bar{X}(0,\omega) + \int_0^{\beta(t)} ds,$$
  
$$\bar{Y}(\beta(t),\omega) = \bar{Y}(0,\omega) + \int_0^{\beta(t)} \bar{Y}(s,\omega)ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} e^{\bar{X}(s,\omega)}d\bar{B}(s)ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} e^{\bar{X}(s,\omega)}d\bar{A}(s)ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} e^{\bar{X}(s,\omega)}$$

This confirms that the Lie group of transformations (6.43) transforms any solution of system (6.36) into a solution of the same system.

### 6.2 Two-dimensional Brownian motion

#### 6.2.1 System of Location and Motion

Let  $\mu$ ,  $\sigma_1$  and  $\sigma_2$  be nonzero constants. Consider the system of equations discussed in Steele (2001),

$$dX(t) = Y(t)dt + \sigma_1 dB_1(t),$$
  

$$dY(t) = -\mu Y(t)dt + \sigma_2 dB_2(t).$$
(6.46)

For equations (6.46) the corresponding functions of equations (4.22) are  $f_1 = y$ ,  $f_2 = -\mu y$ ,  $g_{11} = \sigma_1$ ,  $g_{12} = 0$ ,  $g_{21} = 0$  and  $g_{22} = \sigma_2$ . The system of determining equations for equations (6.46) becomes

$$\xi_{1,t} + y\xi_{1,x} - \mu y\xi_{1,y} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma_1^2\xi_{1,xx} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma_2^2\xi_{1,yy} - 2y\tau - \xi_2 = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{2,t} + y\xi_{2,x} - \mu y\xi_{2,y} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma_1^2\xi_{2,xx} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma_2^2\xi_{2,yy} + 2\mu y\tau + \mu\xi_2 = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{1,x} - \tau = 0, \quad \xi_{2,y} - \tau = 0, \quad \xi_{1,y} = 0, \quad \xi_{2,x} = 0.$$
(6.47)

From the last equations of (6.47) one finds

$$\xi_1 = \xi_1(t, x), \quad \xi_2 = \xi_1(t, y), \quad \tau = \xi_{2,y}.$$

Substituting them into the remaining equations of (6.47), one obtains that the functions  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$  have to satisfy the system of equations

$$\xi_{1,t} + y\xi_{1,x} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma_1^2\xi_{1,xx} - 2y\xi_{2,y} - \xi_2 = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{2,t} + \mu y\xi_{2,y} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma_2^2\xi_{2,yy} + \mu\xi_2 = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{1,x} - \xi_{2,y} = 0.$$
(6.48)

Differentiating the third equation of (6.48) with respect to x and y, respectively, one obtains

$$\xi_{1,xx} = 0, \quad \xi_{2,yy} = 0,$$

thus

$$\xi_1 = h_1(t)x + h_2(t), \quad \xi_2 = h_3(t)y + h_4(t).$$

Substituting them into other equations of (6.48), one obtains

$$h'_{1} + h'_{2} - y(h_{1} + 3h_{3}) - h_{4} = 0,$$
  

$$h'_{3} + h'_{4} + 2\mu y h_{3} + \mu h_{4} = 0.$$
(6.49)

Splitting equations (6.49) with respect to y, one has

$$h_1 + 3h_3 = 0, \quad h_3 = 0,$$

thus

$$h_1 = 0, \quad h_3 = 0.$$

Substituting them into (6.49), one obtains

$$h'_2 - h_4 = 0, \quad h'_4 + \mu h_4 = 0,$$
 (6.50)

so that

$$h_4 = C_1 \mu e^{-\mu t}.$$

Substituting it into the first equation of (6.50), one obtains

$$h_2' + C_1 \mu e^{-\mu t} = 0.$$

Then

$$h_2 = -C_1 e^{-\mu t} + C_2$$

thus

$$\xi_1 = -C_1 e^{-\mu t} + C_2, \quad \xi_2 = C_1 \mu e^{-\mu t}.$$
 (6.51)

Hence  $\tau = 0$ , and h = 0. Thus, a basis of generators corresponding to (6.51) is

$$e^{-\mu t}(\partial_x - \mu \partial_y), \quad \partial_x.$$

The Lie group of transformations corresponding to the first admitted generator is

$$\bar{x} = x + ae^{-\mu t}, \quad \bar{y} = y - a\mu e^{-\mu t}, \quad \bar{t} = t.$$
 (6.52)

Applying Itô's formula to the functions  $\varphi_1 = x + ae^{-\mu t}$  and  $\varphi_2 = y - a\mu e^{-\mu t}$ , one has

$$X(t) + ae^{-\mu t} = X(0) + a + \int_0^t (Y(s) - a\mu e^{-\mu s}) ds + \int_0^t \sigma_1 dB_1(s),$$
  
$$Y(t) - a\mu e^{-\mu t} = Y(0) - \int_0^t \mu (Y(s) - a\mu e^{-\mu s}) ds + \int_0^t \sigma_2 dB_2(s).$$

Since  $X(t,\omega) + ae^{-\mu t} = \bar{X}(t,\omega) = \bar{X}(\bar{t},\omega)$  and  $Y(t,\omega) - a\mu e^{-\mu t} = \bar{Y}(t,\omega) = \bar{Y}(\bar{t},\omega)$ , one has

$$\bar{X}(\bar{t},\omega) = \bar{X}(0,\omega) + \int_{0}^{\bar{t}} \bar{Y}(s,\omega)ds + \int_{0}^{\bar{t}} \sigma_1 dB_1(s),$$
  
$$\bar{Y}(\bar{t},\omega) = \bar{Y}(0,\omega) - \int_{0}^{\bar{t}} \mu \bar{Y}(s,\omega)ds + \int_{0}^{\bar{t}} \sigma_2 dB_2(s)ds + \int_{0}^{\bar{t}} \sigma_2 dB_2$$

This confirms that this Lie group transforms a solution of (6.46) into a solution of the same system.

The Lie group of transformations corresponding to the second admitted generator is

$$\bar{x} = x + a, \quad \bar{y} = y, \quad \bar{t} = t. \tag{6.53}$$

We can show similarly as above that this Lie group transforms a solution of (6.46) into a solution of the same system.

Let  $\mu$  and  $\sigma$  be nonzero constants. Consider the system of equations discussed in Oksendal (1998),

$$dX(t) = Y(t)dt + \mu dB_1(t),$$
  

$$dY(t) = -X(t)dt + \sigma dB_2(t).$$
(6.54)

The system of equations (6.54) is a model for a vibrating string subject to a stochastic force. For equations (6.54), the corresponding functions of equations (4.22) are  $f_1 = y$ ,  $f_2 = -x$ ,  $g_{11} = \mu$ ,  $g_{12} = 0$ ,  $g_{21} = 0$  and  $g_{22} = \sigma$ . The system of determining equations for equations (6.54) becomes

$$\xi_{1,t} + y\xi_{1,x} - x\xi_{1,y} + \frac{1}{2}\mu^2\xi_{1,xx} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\xi_{1,yy} - 2y\tau - \xi_2 = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{2,t} + y\xi_{2,x} - x\xi_{2,y} + \frac{1}{2}\mu^2\xi_{2,xx} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\xi_{2,yy} + 2x\tau + \xi_1 = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{1,x} - \tau = 0, \quad \xi_{2,y} - \tau = 0, \quad \sigma\xi_{1,y} = 0, \quad \xi_{2,x} = 0.$$
(6.55)

From the last equations of (6.55) one finds

$$\xi_1 = \xi_1(t, x), \quad \xi_2 = \xi_2(t, y), \quad \tau = \xi_{2,y}.$$

Substituting them into the remaining equations of (6.55), one obtains that the function  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$  have to satisfy the system of equations

$$\xi_{1,t} + y\xi_{1,x} + \frac{1}{2}\mu^2\xi_{1,xx} - 2y\xi_{2,y} - \xi_2 = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{2,t} + x\xi_{2,y} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\xi_{2,yy} + \xi_1 = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{1,x} - \xi_{2,y} = 0.$$
(6.56)

Differentiating the third equation of (6.56) with respect to x and y, respectively, one obtains

$$\xi_{1,xx} = 0, \quad \xi_{2,yy} = 0,$$

thus

$$\xi_1 = h_1(t)x + h_2(t), \quad \xi_2 = h_3(t)y + h_4(t).$$

Substituting them into other equations of (6.56), one obtains

$$h'_{1} + h'_{2} + y(h_{1} + 3h_{3}) - h_{4} = 0,$$
  

$$h'_{3} + h'_{4} + x(h_{3} + h_{1}) + h_{2} = 0.$$
(6.57)

Splitting equations (6.57) with respect to y and x, respectively, one has

$$h_1 + 3h_3 = 0, \quad h_1 + h_3 = 0.$$

thus

$$h_1 = 0, \quad h_3 = 0.$$

Substituting them into equations (6.57), one obtains

$$h'_2 - h_4 = 0, \quad h'_4 + h_2 = 0.$$
 (6.58)

Differentiating the second equation of (6.58), one obtains

$$h_4'' + h_2' = 0,$$

Substituting  $h'_2 = -h''_4$  into the first equation of (6.58), one gets

$$h_4'' + h_4 = 0,$$

thus

$$h_4 = C_1 \cos t - C_2 \sin t, \quad h_2 = -h'_4 = C_1 \sin t + C_2 \cos t.$$

Hence,

$$\xi_1 = C_1 \sin t + C_2 \cos t, \quad \xi_2 = C_1 \cos t - C_2 \sin t. \tag{6.59}$$

Then  $\tau = 0$  and h = 0. Thus, a basis of generators corresponding to (6.59) is

$$\sin t\partial_x + \cos t\partial_y, \quad \cos t\partial_x - \sin t\partial_y.$$

The Lie group of transformations corresponding to the first admitted generator is

$$\bar{x} = x + a \sin t$$
,  $\bar{y} = y + a \cos t$ ,  $\bar{t} = t$ .

Applying Itô's formula to the functions  $\varphi_1 = x + a \sin t$  and  $\varphi_2 = y + a \cos t$ , one has

$$X(t) + a\sin t = X(0) + a + \int_0^t (Y(s) + a\cos s)ds + \int_0^t \mu dB_1(s),$$
  
$$Y(t) + a\cos t = Y(0) - \int_0^t (X + a\sin s)ds + \int_0^t \sigma dB_2(s).$$

Since  $X(t,\omega) + a \sin t = \bar{X}(t,\omega) = \bar{X}(\bar{t},\omega)$  and  $Y(t,\omega) + a \cos t = \bar{Y}(t,\omega) = \bar{Y}(\bar{t},\omega)$ , one has

$$\bar{X}(\bar{t},\omega) = \bar{X}(0,\omega) + \int_{0_{\bar{t}}}^{\bar{t}} \bar{Y}(s,\omega)ds + \int_{0}^{\bar{t}} \mu dB_1(s),$$
  
$$\bar{Y}(\bar{t},\omega) = \bar{Y}(0,\omega) - \int_{0}^{\bar{t}} \bar{X}(s,\omega)ds \int_{0}^{t} \sigma dB_2(s).$$

This confirms that this Lie group transforms a solution of (6.54) into a solution of the same system.

The Lie group of transformations corresponding to the second admitted generator is

$$\bar{x} = x + a\cos t$$
,  $\bar{y} = y - a\sin t$ ,  $\bar{t} = t$ .

We can show similarly as above that this Lie group transforms a solution of (6.54) into a solution of the same system.

#### 6.2.3 Ornstein-Uhlenbeck Process

Consider the system of equation discussed in Gaeta and Quintero, (1999),

$$dX(t) = -X(t)dt,$$
  

$$dY(t) = -Y(t)dt + dB_1(t) + dB_2(t).$$
(6.60)

This system represents an Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process and its corresponding Fokker-Planck equation is

$$u_t + \frac{1}{2}u_{yy} - xu_x - yu_y - 2u = 0.$$

For equations (6.60), the corresponding functions of equations (4.22) are  $f_1 = -x$ ,  $f_2 = -y$ ,  $g_{11} = 0$ ,  $g_{12} = 0$ ,  $g_{21} = 1$  and  $g_{22} = 1$ . The system of determining equations for equations (6.60) becomes

$$\xi_{1,t} - x\xi_{1,x} - y\xi_{1,y} + \xi_{1,yy} + 2x\tau + \xi_1 = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{2,t} - x\xi_{2,x} - y\xi_{2,y} + \xi_{2,yy} + 2y\tau + \xi_2 = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{1,y} = 0, \quad \xi_{2,y} - \tau = 0.$$
(6.61)

From the last two equations of (6.61) one finds

$$\xi_1 = \xi_1(t, x), \quad \tau = \xi_{2,y}.$$

Substituting them into the remaining equations of (6.61), one obtains that the function  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$  have to satisfy the system of equations

$$\xi_{1,t} - x\xi_{1,x} + 2x\xi_{2,y} + \xi_1 = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{2,t} - x\xi_{2,x} + y\xi_{2,y} + \xi_{2,yy} + \xi_2 = 0.$$
(6.62)

Differentiating the first equation of (6.62) with respect to y, one gets

$$\xi_{2,yy} = 0,$$

thus

$$\xi_2 = F(t, x)y + G(t, x).$$

Substituting it into the second equation of (6.62), one obtains

$$y(F_t + 2F - xF_x) + G_t - xG_x + G = 0.$$

Splitting the last equation with respect to y, one has

$$F_t + 2F - xF_x = 0, \quad G_t - xG_x + G = 0$$

thus

$$F = x^2 F_1, \quad G = x F_2,$$

where  $F_1 = F_1(xe^t)$  and  $F_2 = F_2(xe^t)$ . Substituting  $\xi_2$  into the first equation of (6.62), one obtains

$$\xi_{1,t} - x\xi_{1,x} + 2x^3F_1 + \xi_1 = 0.$$

Hence,

$$\xi_1 = x^3 F_1 + x F_3, \quad \xi_2 = x^2 y F_1 + x F_2, \quad \tau = x^2 F_1,$$
 (6.63)

where  $F_3 = F_3(xe^t)$ . A basis of generators corresponding to (6.63) is

$$xF_2\partial_y, \quad xF_3\partial_x, \quad F_1x^2(x\partial_x+y\partial_y)+x^2h\partial_t$$

where  $h = 2 \int_0^t F(xe^s) ds$ .

The Lie group of transformations corresponding to the first admitted generator is

$$\bar{x} = x, \quad \bar{y} = y + xF_2, \quad \bar{t} = t.$$
 (6.64)

It is not difficult to show that this Lie group transforms a solution of (6.60) into a solution of the same equation.

Let us construct the Lie group of transformations corresponding to the third generator for the particular case determined by the assumption  $F_1 = k$ , where k is constant. In this case the generator becomes

$$x^3\partial_x + yx^2\partial_y + 2x^2t\partial_t.$$

For finding the Lie group of transformations corresponding to this generator, one has to solve the Lie equations

$$\frac{\partial H}{\partial a} = 2\varphi_1^2 H, \quad \frac{\partial \varphi_1}{\partial a} = \varphi_1^3, \quad \frac{\partial \varphi_2}{\partial a} = \varphi_2 \varphi_1^2,$$

with the initial conditions for a = 0;

$$H = t, \quad \varphi_1 = x, \quad \varphi_2 = y$$

The solution of this Cauchy problem gives the transformations of the independent variable t and the dependent variables x and y,

$$\bar{t} = H = t(1 - 2ax^2)^{-1}, \quad \bar{x} = \varphi_1 = x(1 - 2ax^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \quad \bar{y} = \varphi_2 = y(1 - 2ax^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$
  
(6.65)

Hence  $\eta^2 = (1 - 2ax^2)^{-1}$ .

Let us show that the Lie group of transformations (6.65) transforms a solution of equations (6.60) into a solution of the same equations. Assume that (X(t), Y(t)) is a solution of equations (6.60). The Brownian motions  $B_1(t)$  and  $B_2(t)$  are transformed according to the formula

$$\bar{B}_1(t) = \int_0^{\alpha(t)} (1 - 2aX^2(s))^{-\frac{1}{2}} dB_1(s),$$

$$\bar{B}_2(t) = \int_0^{\alpha(t)} (1 - 2aX^2(s))^{-\frac{1}{2}} dB_2(s), \quad t \ge 0,$$
(6.66)

where

$$\beta(t) = \int_0^t (1 - 2aX^2(s))^{-1} ds, \quad \alpha(t) = \inf_{s \ge 0} \{s : \beta(s) > t\}, \quad t \ge 0$$

Applying Itô's formula to the functions  $\varphi_1(t, x, y, a) = x(1 - 2ax^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and  $\varphi_2(t, x, y, a) = y(1 - 2ax^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ , one has

$$\varphi_{1}(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \varphi_{1}(0, X(0, \omega), Y(0, \omega), a) - \int_{0}^{t} X(s)(1 - 2aX^{2}(s))^{-\frac{3}{2}} ds$$
  

$$\varphi_{2}(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \varphi_{2}(0, X(0, \omega), Y(0, \omega), a)$$
  

$$- \int_{0}^{t} Y(s, \omega)(1 - 2aX^{2}(s))^{-\frac{3}{2}} ds + \int_{0}^{t} (1 - 2aX^{2}(s))^{-\frac{1}{2}} dB_{1}(s)$$
  

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} (1 - 2aX^{2}(s))^{-\frac{1}{2}} dB_{2}(s).$$
  
(6.67)

By virtue of (4.9),

$$\frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial \bar{t}}(\bar{t}) = (1 - 2aX^2(s))$$

Changing the variable of the integral  $s = \alpha(\bar{s})$  in the Riemann integrals in (6.67),

they become

$$\int_0^t X(s)(1-2aX^2(s))^{-\frac{3}{2}}ds = \int_0^{\beta(t)} X(\alpha(\bar{s})) \left(1-2aX^2(\alpha(\bar{s}))\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}}d\bar{s},$$
$$\int_0^t Y(s,\omega) \left(1-2aX^2(s)\right)^{-\frac{3}{2}}ds = \int_0^{\beta(t)} Y(\alpha(\bar{s})) \left(1-2aX^2(\alpha(\bar{s}))\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}}d\bar{s}.$$

Because of the transformation of the Brownian motions (6.66), the Itô integrals in (6.67) become

$$\int_{0}^{t} (1 - 2aX^{2}(s))^{-\frac{1}{2}} dB_{1}(s) = \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_{1}(\bar{s}).$$
$$\int_{0}^{t} (1 - 2aX^{2}(s))^{-\frac{1}{2}} dB_{2}(s) = \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_{2}(\bar{s}).$$
$$(1 - 2aX^{2}(\alpha(\bar{t})))^{-\frac{1}{2}} = \bar{X}(\bar{t},\omega) \text{ and } Y(\alpha(\bar{t}))(1 - 2aX^{2}(\alpha(\bar{t})))^{-\frac{1}{2}} =$$

Since  $X(\alpha(\bar{t}))(1 - 2aX^2(\alpha(\bar{t})))^{-\frac{1}{2}} = \bar{X}(\bar{t},\omega)$  and  $Y(\alpha(\bar{t}))(1 - 2aX^2(\alpha(\bar{t})))^{-\frac{1}{2}} = \bar{Y}(\bar{t},\omega)$ , one gets

$$\varphi_{1}(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \varphi_{1}(0, X(0, \omega), Y(0, \omega), a) - \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} \bar{X}(s, \omega) d\bar{B}_{1}(s),$$
  
$$\varphi_{2}(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \varphi_{2}(0, X(0, \omega), Y(0, \omega), a) - \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} \bar{Y}(s, \omega) d\bar{B}_{1}(s) + \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_{1}(s) + \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_{2}(s).$$

Because  $\varphi_1(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \overline{X}(\beta(t), \omega)$ , and  $\varphi_2(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \overline{Y}(\beta(t), \omega)$ , one has

$$\bar{X}(\beta(t),\omega) = \bar{X}(0,\omega) - \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} \bar{X}(s,\omega)ds,$$
  
$$\bar{Y}(\beta(t),\omega) = \bar{Y}(0,\omega) - \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} \bar{Y}(s,\omega)ds + \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_{1}(s) + \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_{2}(s).$$

This confirms that the Lie group of transformations (6.65) transforms any solution of equations (6.60) into a solution of the same equations.

### 6.2.4 Linear Itô Dynamical System

Consider the system of equations discussed in Unal (2003),

$$dX(t) = -\frac{1}{2}X(t)dt - Y(t)dB_1(t),$$
  

$$dY(t) = -\frac{1}{2}Y(t)dt + X(t)dB_2(t).$$
(6.68)

For equations (6.68) the corresponding functions of equations (4.22) are  $f_1 = -\frac{1}{2}x$ ,  $f_2 = -\frac{1}{2}y$ ,  $g_{11} = -y$ ,  $g_{12} = 0$ ,  $g_{21} = 0$  and  $g_{22} = x$ . The system of determining equations for equations (6.68) becomes

$$\xi_{1,t} - \frac{1}{2}x\xi_{1,x} - \frac{1}{2}y\xi_{1,y} + \frac{1}{2}y^{2}\xi_{1,xx} + \frac{1}{2}x^{2}\xi_{1,yy} + x\tau + \frac{1}{2}\xi_{1} = 0,$$

$$\xi_{2,t} - \frac{1}{2}x\xi_{2,x} - \frac{1}{2}y\xi_{2,y} + \frac{1}{2}y^{2}\xi_{2,xx} + \frac{1}{2}x^{2}\xi_{2,yy} + y\tau + \frac{1}{2}\xi_{2} = 0,$$

$$-y\xi_{1,x} + y\tau + \xi_{2} = 0,$$

$$x\xi_{2,y} - x\tau - \xi_{1} = 0, \quad \xi_{1,y} = 0, \quad \xi_{2,x} = 0.$$
(6.69)

From the last three equations of (6.69) one finds

$$\xi_1 = \xi_1(t, x), \quad \xi_2 = \xi_2(t, y), \quad \tau = \xi_{2,y} - \frac{1}{x}\xi_1.$$

Substituting them into the remaining equations of (6.69), one obtains that the functions  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$  have to satisfy the system of equations

$$\xi_{1,t} - \frac{1}{2}x\xi_{1,x} + \frac{1}{2}y^{2}\xi_{1,xx} + x\xi_{2,y} - \frac{1}{2}\xi_{1} = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{2,t} - \frac{1}{2}y\xi_{2,y} + \frac{1}{2}x^{2}\xi_{2,yy} + y(\xi_{2,y} - \frac{1}{x}\xi_{1}) + \frac{1}{2}\xi_{2} = 0,$$
  

$$-y\xi_{1,x} + y(\xi_{2,y} - \frac{1}{x}\xi_{1}) + \xi_{2} = 0.$$
  
(6.70)

Differentiating the third equation of (6.70) with respect to x, one obtains

$$\xi_{1,xx} + \frac{1}{x}\xi_{1,x} - \frac{1}{x^2}\xi_1 = 0,$$

thus

$$\xi_{1,x} = F(t)x + G(t)\frac{1}{x}.$$

Substituting it into the first equation of (6.70), one gets

$$x(F' - F + \xi_{2,y}) + \frac{1}{x^3}y^2G = 0$$

Splitting this equation with respect to x and y, one has

$$F' - F + \xi_{2,y}, \quad G = 0.$$
 (6.71)

Substituting  $\xi_{1,x}$  into the second equation of (6.70), one gets

$$\xi_{2,t} - \frac{1}{2}y\xi_{2,y} + \frac{1}{2}x^2\xi_{2,yy} + y(\xi_{2,y} - F) + \frac{1}{2}\xi_2 = 0.$$

Splitting this equation with respect to x, one has

 $\xi_{2,yy} = 0,$ 

thus

$$\xi_2 = H(t)y + K(t).$$

Substituting  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$  into the third equation of (6.70), one gets

$$2y(F-H) + K = 0.$$

Splitting this equation with respect to y, one has

$$F = H, \quad K = 0,$$

thus

$$\xi_2 = F(t)y.$$

Substituting it into the first equation of (6.71), one gets

$$F' = 0,$$

thus F = C for some constant C, and hence

$$\xi_1 = Cx, \quad \xi_2 = Cy.$$
 (6.72)

It follows that  $\tau = 0$ , and h = 0. Thus, a basis of generators corresponding to (6.72) is

$$x\partial_x + y\partial_y. \tag{6.73}$$

The Lie group of transformations corresponding to the admitted generator (6.73) is

$$\bar{x} = xe^a, \quad \bar{y} = ye^a, \quad \bar{t} = t.$$

Applying Itô's formula to the functions  $\varphi_1 = xe^a$  and  $\varphi_2 = ye^a$ , one has

$$X(t)e^{a} = X(0)e^{a} - \frac{1}{2}\int_{0}^{t} X(s)e^{a}ds - \int_{0}^{t} Y(s)e^{a}dB_{1}(s),$$
  
$$Y(t)e^{a} = Y(0)e^{a} - \frac{1}{2}\int_{0}^{t} Y(s)e^{a}ds + \int_{0}^{t} X(s)e^{a}dB_{2}(s).$$

Since  $X(t,\omega)e^a = \bar{X}(t,\omega) = \bar{X}(\bar{t},\omega)$  and  $Y(t,\omega)e^a = \bar{Y}(t,\omega) = \bar{Y}(\bar{t},\omega)$ , one has

$$\bar{X}(\bar{t},\omega) = \bar{X}(0,\omega) - \frac{1}{2} \int_{0_{\bar{t}}}^{t} \bar{X}(s,\omega)ds - \int_{0_{\bar{t}}}^{t} \bar{Y}(s,\omega)dB_{1}(s),$$
$$\bar{Y}(\bar{t},\omega) = \bar{Y}(0,\omega) - \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{\bar{t}} \bar{Y}(s,\omega)ds + \int_{0}^{\bar{t}} \bar{X}(s,\omega)dB_{2}(s).$$

This confirms that this Lie group transforms a solution of (6.68) into a solution of the same system.

#### 6.2.5 Nonlinear Itô System

Let  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$  be constants. Consider the system of equations discussed in Gaeta and Quintero (1999),

$$dX(t) = \frac{\mu_1}{X(t)}dt + dB_1(t),$$
  

$$dY(t) = \mu_2 dt + dB_2(t).$$
(6.74)

The associated Fokker-Planck equation is

$$u_t = \frac{1}{2}(u_{xx} + u_{yy}) + \frac{\mu_1}{x^2}u - \frac{\mu_1}{x}u_x - \mu_2 u_y,$$

which has been studied by Finkel (1999). For equations (6.74) the corresponding functions of equations (4.22) are  $f_1 = \frac{\mu_1}{x}$ ,  $f_2 = \mu_2$ ,  $g_{11} = 1$ ,  $g_{12} = 0$ ,  $g_{21} = 0$  and  $g_{22} = 1$ . The system of determining equations for equations (6.74) becomes

$$\xi_{1,t} + \frac{\mu_1}{x}\xi_{1,x} + \mu_2\xi_{1,y} + \frac{1}{2}\xi_{1,xx} + \frac{1}{2}\xi_{1,yy} - 2\frac{\mu_1}{x}\tau + \frac{\mu_1}{x^2}\xi_1 = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{2,t} + \frac{\mu_1}{x}\xi_{2,x} + \mu_2\xi_{2,y} + \frac{1}{2}\xi_{2,xx} + \frac{1}{2}\xi_{2,yy} - 2\mu_2\tau = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{1,x} - \tau = 0, \quad \xi_{2,y} - \tau = 0, \quad \xi_{1,y} = 0, \quad \xi_{2,x} = 0.$$
(6.75)

From the last equations of (6.75) one can find

$$\xi_1 = \xi_1(t, x), \quad \xi_2 = \xi_2(t, y), \quad \tau = \xi_{2,y}.$$

Substituting these into the remaining equations of (6.75), one obtains that the function  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$  have to satisfy the system of equations

$$\xi_{1,t} + \frac{\mu_1}{x}\xi_{1,x} + \frac{1}{2}\xi_{1,xx} - 2\frac{\mu_1}{x}\xi_{2,y} + \frac{\mu_1}{x^2}\xi_1 = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{2,t} - \mu_2\xi_{2,y} + \frac{1}{2}\xi_{2,yy} = 0,$$
  

$$\xi_{1,x} - \xi_{2,y} = 0.$$
(6.76)

Differentiating the third equation of (6.76) with respect to x and y, respectively, one obtains

$$\xi_{1,xx} = 0, \quad \xi_{2,yy} = 0,$$

thus

$$\xi_1 = h_1(t)x + h_2(t), \quad \xi_2 = h_3(t)y + h_4(t).$$

Substituting them into other equations of (6.76), one obtains

$$h'_{1} + h'_{2} + 2\frac{\mu_{1}}{x}h_{1} - 2\frac{\mu_{1}}{x}h_{3} + \frac{\mu_{1}}{x^{2}}h_{2} = 0,$$
  

$$h'_{3} + h'_{4} - \mu_{2}h_{3} = 0.$$
(6.77)

Splitting the first equation of (6.77) with respect to x, one has

$$h_1 - h_3 = 0, \quad h_2 = 0.$$

Substituting them into (6.77), one obtains

$$h'_3 = 0,$$
  
 $h'_3 + h'_4 - \mu_2 h_3 = 0.$  (6.78)

From the first equation of (6.78) one finds

$$h_3 = C_1.$$

Substituting it into other equations of (6.77), one obtains

$$h_4' - \mu_2 C_1 = 0,$$

then

$$h_4 = \mu_2 C_1 t + C_2.$$

Hence

$$\xi_1 = C_1 x, \quad \xi_2 = C_1 (y + \mu_2 t) + C_2, \quad \tau = C_1,$$
 (6.79)

and  $h = 2C_1 t$ . Thus, a basis of generators corresponding to (6.79) is

$$\partial_y \quad x\partial_x + (y+\mu_2 t)\partial_y + 2t\partial_t.$$

The Lie group of transformations corresponding to the first admitted generator is

$$\bar{x} = x, \quad \bar{y} = y + a, \quad \bar{t} = t.$$
 (6.80)

It is not difficult to show that this Lie group transforms a solution of (6.74) into a solution of the same system.

For finding the Lie group of transformations corresponding to the second admitted generator, one has to solve the Lie equations

$$\frac{\partial H}{\partial a} = 2H, \quad \frac{\partial \varphi_1}{\partial a} = \varphi_1, \quad \frac{\partial \varphi_2}{\partial a} = \varphi_2 + \mu_2 H_2$$

with the initial conditions for a = 0:

$$H = t, \quad \varphi_1 = x, \quad \varphi_2 = y,$$

The solution of this Cauchy problem gives the transformations of the independent variable t and the dependent variables x and y

$$\bar{t} = H = te^{2a}, \quad \bar{x} = \varphi_1 = xe^a, \quad \bar{y} = \varphi_2 = \mu_2 te^{2a} + (y - \mu_2 t)e^a.$$
 (6.81)

Hence  $\eta^2 = H_t = e^{2a}$ .

Let us show that this Lie group of transformation transforms a solution of equations (6.74) into a solution of the same equation. Assume that (X(t), Y(t))is a solution of equations (6.74). The Brownian motions  $B_1(t)$  and  $B_2(t)$  are transformed according to the formula

$$\bar{B}_{1}(t) = \int_{0}^{\alpha(t)} e^{a} dB_{1}(s),$$

$$\bar{B}_{2}(t) = \int_{0}^{\alpha(t)} e^{a} dB_{2}(s), \quad t \ge 0,$$
(6.82)

where

$$\beta(t) = \int_0^t e^{2a} ds = t e^{2a}, \quad \alpha(t) = \inf_{s \ge 0} \{s : \beta(s) > t\} = t e^{-2a}, \quad t \ge 0.$$

Applying Itô's formula to the functions  $\varphi_1(t, x, y, a) = xe^a$  and  $\varphi_2(t, x, y, a) = \mu_2 t e^{2a} + (y - \mu_2 t)e^a$ , one has

$$\varphi_{1}(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \varphi_{1}(0, X(0, \omega), Y(0, \omega), a) + \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\mu_{1}e^{a}}{X(s, \omega)} ds + \int_{0}^{t} e^{a} dB_{1}(s),$$

$$\varphi_{2}(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \varphi_{2}(0, X(0, \omega), Y(0, \omega), a) + \int_{0}^{t} \mu_{2}e^{2a} ds + \int_{0}^{t} e^{a} dB_{2}(s)$$
(6.83)

By virtue of (4.9)

$$\frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial \bar{t}}(\bar{t}) = e^{-2a}.$$

Changing the variable of the integral  $s = \alpha(\bar{s})$  in the Riemann integrals in (6.83), they become

$$\int_{0}^{t} \frac{\mu_{1}e^{a}}{X(s)} ds = \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} \frac{\mu_{1}}{X(\alpha(\bar{s}))e^{a}} d\bar{s},$$
$$\int_{0}^{t} \mu_{2}e^{2a} ds = \int_{0}^{\beta(t)} \mu_{2} d\bar{s}.$$

Because of the transformation of the Brownian motions (6.82), the Itô integrals in (6.83) become

$$\int_0^t e^a dB_1(s) = \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_1(\bar{s}).$$

$$\int_0^t e^a dB_2(s) = \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(\bar{s}).$$

Because  $X(\alpha(\bar{t}),\omega)e^a = \bar{X}(\bar{t},\omega)$ , one gets

$$\begin{split} \varphi_1(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) &= \varphi_1(0, X(0, \omega), Y(0, \omega), a) \\ &+ \int_0^{\beta(t)} \frac{\mu_1}{\bar{X}(s, \omega)} ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_1(s), \\ \varphi_2(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) &= \varphi_2(0, X(0, \omega), Y(0, \omega), a) + \int_0^{\beta(t)} \mu_2 ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds \\ &= \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds \\ &= \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds \\ &= \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds \\ &= \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds \\ &= \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds \\ &= \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds \\ &= \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds \\ &= \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds \\ &= \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s) ds$$

Since  $\varphi_1(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \bar{X}(\beta(t), \omega)$ , and  $\varphi_2(t, X(t, \omega), Y(t, \omega), a) = \bar{Y}(\beta(t), \omega)$ , one has

$$\bar{X}(\beta(t),\omega) = \bar{X}(0,\omega) + \int_0^{\beta(t)} \frac{\mu_1}{\bar{X}(s,\omega)} ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_1(s),$$
$$\bar{Y}(\beta(t),\omega) = \bar{Y}(0,\omega) + \int_0^{\beta(t)} \mu_2 ds + \int_0^{\beta(t)} d\bar{B}_2(s).$$

This confirms that the Lie group of transformations (6.81) transforms any solution of system (6.74) into a solution of the same system.

## Chapter VII

## Conclusion

This thesis is devoted to an application of group analysis to the stochastic differential equations.

### 7.1 Thesis Summary

A new definition of an admitted Lie group of transformations for stochastic differential equations was developed in this thesis. This approach includes dependent and independent variables in the transformation. The transformation of Brownian motion is defined by the transformation of dependent and independent variables. Correctness of all developed construction is strictly proven. Thus a correct approach for generalization of group analysis to stochastic differential equations has been developed. The developed theory was applied to a variety of stochastic differential equations. First, stochastic differential equations with one Brownian motion were studied. Then the theory was extended to stochastic differential equations with multi-Brownian motion. For one dimensional Itô stochastic differential equations, two applications were studied: an equation describing geometric Brownian motion and an equation describing Brownian motion with drift. For systems of stochastic differential equations with one-dimensional Brownian motion, five applications were studied: a system describing the graph of Brownian motion, a system describing the Black and Scholes market, a system describing a narrow-sense linear system, a system describing a mean-reverting Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process and a nonlinear Itô system. For systems of stochastic differential equations with multi-Brownian motion, four applications were studied: a system describing location and motion, a system describing a model for a vibrating string subject to a stochastic force, a system representing an Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process, a linear Itô dynamical system and a nonlinear Itô system. References

### References

- Albin, P. (2001). Lecture notes on basic stochastic calculus. Sweden: Gothenenburg University.
- Albeverio, S. and Fei, S. (1995). Remark on symmetry of stochastic dynamical systems and their conserved Quantities, Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General, 28, pp.6363-6371.
- Bluman, G.W. and Kumei, S. (1996). Symmetries and differential equations. New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Chalasani, P. and Jha, S. (1996) Stochastic Calculus and Finance, USA: Carnegie Mellon University.
- Durrett, R. (1996). Stochastic calculus: A practical introduction. Florida: CRC Press.
- Finkel, F. (1999). Symmetries of the Fokker-Planck equation with a constant diffusion matrix in 2 + 1 dimensions, Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General, 32, pp.2671-2684.
- Gaeta, G. (2004). Symmetry of stochastic equations, Journal of Proceedings National Academy of Sciences Ukraine, 50, pp. 98-109.
- Gaeta, G. and Quintero, N.R. (1999). Lie-point symmetries and differential equations, Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General, 32, pp.8485-8505.

- Gard, T.C. (1988). Introduction to stochastic differential equations. USA: Dekker.
- Grigoryev, Yu. N. and Meleshko, S.V. (1990). Group theoretical analysis of the kinetic Boltzmann equation and its models, Arch. Mech., 42, pp. 693– 701.
- Ibragimov, N.H. (1999). Elementary Lie group analysis and ordinary differential equations. Wiley: Chichester.
- Ibragimov, N.H.(ed.). (1994). CRC Handbook of Lie Group Analysis of Differential Equations, (Vol.1,2,3). CRC Press.
- Ibragimov, N.H., Jogréus, C. and Unal, G. (1999). Approximate symmetries and conservation laws for Itô and Stratonovich dynamical systems, Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, 297, pp. 152–168.
- Klebaner, F.C. (1988). Introduction to stochastic calculus with application. London: Imperical College Press.
- Li, Z. (2004). Stochastic differential equations. China: Beijing Normal University.
- Mahomed, F.M., Pooe, C.A. and Wafo Soh, C. (2004). Fundamental solutions for zero-coupon bond pricing models, Nonlinear Dynamics, 36, pp.69-76.
- Mahomed, F.M. and Wafo Soh, C. (2001). Integration of stochastic ordinary differential equations from a symmetry standpoint, Journal of Physics
  A: Mathematical and General, 34, pp.777-782.

McKean, H.P. (1969). Stochastic Integrals New York: Academic Press.

- Meleshko, S.V. (2005). Methods for Constructing Exact Solutions of Partial Differential Equations, with Applications, New York: Springer.
- Michael Steele, J. (2001). Stochastic calculus and financial applications. New York: Springer.
- Mikosch, T. (1998). Elementary stochastic calculus-with finance in view. Singapore: World Scientific.
- Misawa, T. (1994). New conserved quantities from symmetry for stochastic dynamical systems, Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General, 27 pp.177-192.
- Oksendal, B. (1998). Stochastic ordinary differential equations: an introduction with applications. Berlin: Springer.
- Ovsiannikov, L.V. (1978). Group analysis of differential equations: English translation by W.F.Ames. New York: Academic Press.
- Protter, P. (1992). Stochastic integration and differential equations : A new approach. USA : Springer-Verlag.
- Unal, G. (2003). Symmetries of Ito and Stratonovich dynamical systems and their conserved quantities, Nonlinear Dynamics, 32, pp.417-426.
- Unal, G. and Sun, J.Q. (2004). Symmetries and conserved quantities of stochastic dynamical control systems, Nonlinear Dynamics, 36, pp.107-122.

## Curriculum Vitae

# NAME: Boonlert Srihirun. SEX: Male. NATIONALITY: Thai. DATE OF BIRTH: September 9, 1972. MARITAL STATUS: Single. EDUCATIONAL BACKGROUND:

- B.Sc. in Mathematics, Ramkhamhaeng University, Bangkok, Thailand, 1992.

- M.Sc. in Mathematics, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand, 1997.

#### WORK EXPERIENCE:

- Lecturer in Mathematics at Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, Kasetsart University, Bangkok, Thailand. During 1998-2003.
- Long Term Visitor, Centre for Mathematics and its Applications, Blekinge Institute of Technology, Karlskrona, Sweden, Junuary - May 2005.

#### **PUBLICATIONS:**

- B. Srihirun, On Definition of Determining Equations for Stochastic Differential Equations, 31th Congress on Science and Technology of Thailand (STT 2005), October 18-20, 2005, Suranaree University of Technology, Nakhon Ratchasima, Thailand.
- B. Srihirun, S.V. Meleshko and E. Schulz, (2006), "On the Definition of an Admitted Lie group for Stochastic Differential Equations", Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulations. (accepted).

#### **SCHOLARSHIPS**:

- The Ministry of University Affairs of Thailand (MUA), 2002-2005.